
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please ask for: Amelia Boulter, Democratic Support Officer  
T: 01752 304570 E: amelia.boulter@plymouth.gov.uk 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Date:    Thursday 5 January 2012 
Time:   10am 
Venue: Council House (Next to Civic Centre) 
 
Members: 
Councillor  Wildy, Chair 
Councillor  Stark, Vice Chair 
Councillors Mrs Beer, Bowie, Mrs Bragg, Browne, Delbridge, Mrs Dolan, Haydon, Singh, 
Thompson and Tuohy. 
 
Statutory Co-opted Representatives: 
Kevin Willis – Parent Governor Representative 
 
Co-opted Representatives: 
Alderman Purnell – Co-opted Representative 
Matthew Currie – Young Person Representative 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
Members and officers are requested to sign the attendance list at the meeting. 
 
Please note that unless the chair of the meeting agrees, mobile phones should be switched off 
and speech, video and photographic equipment should not be used in meetings. 
 
 
Barry Keel 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Barry Keel 
Chief Executive 
 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
 
Date: 20 December 2011 

Public Document Pack



 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by panel members. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
  
 The panel will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. 
  
3. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 8) 
  
 The panel will be asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting on 10 November 2011. 
  
4. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS    
  
 To receive reports on business that, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 
  
5. TRACKING RESOLUTIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM 

MANAGEMENT BOARD   
(Pages 9 - 22) 

  
 The panel will monitor progress on previous resolutions and to receive feedback from 

the management board. 
  
6. CHILDREN'S EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND 

MENTAL HEALTH TASK AND FINISH GROUP   
(Pages 23 - 48) 

  
 The panel to review the action plan and recommendations. 
  
7. UPDATES FROM PARTNER ORGANISATIONS    
  
 The panel to note updates received from - 
  
 a. Children and Young People's Trust (Pages 49 - 50) 
   
 b. Local Safeguarding Children's Board (Pages 51 - 54) 
   
8. PERFORMANCE AND BUDGET REPORT   (Pages 55 - 76) 
  
 The panel to receive the budget and performance report. 



 

  
9. SCHOOL ATTAINMENT   (Pages 77 - 82) 
  
 The panel to receive a report on primary and secondary school attainment. 
  
10. LOCALITY REVIEW   (Pages 83 - 84) 
  
 The panel to receive a briefing note on the locality review. 
  
11. WORK PROGRAMME   (Pages 85 - 86) 
  
 The panel will consider its work programme for 2011/12. 
  
12. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, the Panel is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.  
 
NIL. 
  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

Thursday 10 November 2011 
 

PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Stark, in the Chair. 
Councillor Bowie, Vice Chair. 
Councillors Mrs Beer, Bowie, Mrs Bragg, Browne, Mrs Dolan, Lock, Singh and Tuohy. 
 
Co-opted Representatives: Mr Kevin Willis and Alderman Purnell 
 
Apologies for absence: Councillors Mrs Bowyer, Delbridge and Haydon. 
 
Also in attendance:  Maggie Carter – Assistant Director (Learner and Family Support), 
Joy Howick - Head of Service, Children in the Community, John Miller - Head of 
Integrated Youth Support, Theresa Nally – Team Manager, Youth Offending Team, 
William Wokya, Chief Executive, Routeways, Candice Sainsbury, Senior Policy, 
Performance and Partnership Advisor, Claire Oatway – Lead Officer and Amelia Boulter 
– Democratic Support Officer. 
 
The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 12.15 pm. 
 
Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so 
they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether 
these minutes have been amended. 
 

40. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR   
 
Agreed that Councillor Mrs Bowie is appointed as vice-chair for this meeting. 
 

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct, the following declarations of interest were made, 
as follows – 
 
Name Minute Reason Interest 
Councillor Mrs 
Beer 
 

Minute 49 and 51 - 
Academies/School 
Funding and Youth 
Justice Plan.  

Employed by Devon and 
Cornwall Police and inputted 
into the Youth Justice Plan.  
Governor of Plymtree 
Children Centre. 

Personal and 
prejudicial. 

Councillor Lock 
 

Minute 49 – 
Academies/School 
funding. 

Governor of Plympton St 
Mary’s Church of England 
Infant School. 

Personal. 

Councillor Mrs 
Bragg 
 

Minute 49 - 
Academies/School 
funding. 
 

Director of the Marine 
Academy 

Personal. 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

Name Minute Reason Interest 
Councillor Mrs 
Dolan  
 

Minute 49 - 
Academies/School 
funding. 

Governor of Devonport 
High School for Girls. 
 

Personal. 

Councillor Stark  
 

Minute 49 - 
Academies/School 
funding. 

Governor of All Saints and 
Stoke Damerel. 
 

Personal. 

Councillor 
Tuohy 
 

Minute 49 - 
Academies/School 
funding. 

Governor of Weston Mill 
Primary School. 
 

Personal. 

Kevin Willis Minute 49 - 
Academies/School 
funding. 

Governor of Ridgeway 
School and Chair of the 
School Admissions Forum. 

Personal. 

 
42. MINUTES   

 
Agreed that the minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2011 were approved as a 
correct record. 
 
Regarding  – 
 
 a. Little Teds Enquiry.  It was raised at the last meeting that the Little Teds 

recommendations had been reviewed by the panel.  On further investigation 
Little Teds had not been looked at previously by the panel; 

 
b. minute 3 (3) Parent Governor elections.  The Parent Governor Elections had 

taken place and no nominations were received.  A further election process 
commenced on the 9 November 2011; 

 
c. minute 20 In-year admissions.  It was reported that the School Admissions 

Forum were scheduled to meet next week.  This meeting had been delayed 
to allow the forum to digest the new School Admissions and School 
Admission Appeal Code. 

 
Agreed that – 
 

1. the Little Teds  recommendations are submitted to the panel for review; 
 
2. panel members raise the current election process of parent governor 

representatives onto the Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny panel with fellow governors. 

 
43. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS   

 
There were no items of Chair’s Urgent Business. 
 
 
 

Page 2



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

44. TRACKING RESOLUTIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM MANAGEMENT 
BOARD   
 
The panel considered the tracking resolutions and those present commented as follows – 
 

• regarding minute 3 (1), Appointment of co-opted representation.  The panel were 
informed that Jenny Evans and Kerry Whittlesea had completed their time on the 
panel.  The Chair proposed that Matthew Currie is appointed to the  next meeting 
of the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny panel; 

 
• regarding minute 3 (4), Faith representatives.  Councillor Stark had made contact 

with the Bishop and would raise the matter again when they next meet.  The panel 
also considered co-opting other faith representatives onto the panel; 

 
• regarding minute 29 (2), Vacant posts and agency staff.  It was reported that there 

were currently 125 Pertemp staff employed and 429 vacancies within Children 
Services; 

 
• regarding minute 29 (3), Private hire and licensed Hackney carriage drivers.   The 

panel were informed that no local policy changes had been made and anyone 
working with children were still required to have a full CRB check; 

 
• regarding Appendix 3, Munro recommendations.  It was reported that Plymouth 

does have a definition of neglect which covers all forms of abuse.  Social workers 
have a clear framework to work against.  Four Ofsted inspections had taken place 
this year and Plymouth received 2 outstanding judgements.  Ofsted were sharing 
Plymouth’s best practice with other local authorities. 

 
Agreed that – 
 

1. Matthew Currie is invited to be a Young Person Co-opted Representative on 
the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel;  

 
2. Councillor Stark to raise the matter of Faith Representation on the panel 

with the Bishop; 
 

3. contact is made with the Plymouth Centre of Faith and Cultural Diversity to 
explore other opportunities for faith representation  on the panel; 

 
4. further information is provided to the panel on the current vacancy and 

Pertemps position within Children Services to include a comparison with 
previous years figures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

45. UPDATES FROM PARTNER ORGANISATIONS 
 

(a) Corporate Parenting Group 
 

 Joy Howick, Head of Service for Children in the Community presented the report 
to the panel.   It was reported that the recent fostering inspection, Plymouth 
achieved an outstanding judgement across all domains. 

   
(b) Children and Young People's Trust 

 
 Maggie Carter, Assistant Director (Learner and Family Support) presented the 

report to the panel.  It was reported that Plymouth is one of 28 authorities judged 
to be performing excellently.  The Ofsted Annual Performance Assessment 
looked at safeguarding, fostering, advice and assessment, schools and early year 
settings. 
 
Agreed that the Ofsted Annual Performance Letter is circulated to the panel. 

   
46. TASK AND FINISH GROUP REPORT   

 
The Chair gave an update to the panel on the findings of the recent Task and Finish on 
Children’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health.  It was reported that – 
 

a. the meeting attracted good press coverage; 
 
b. it highlighted long waiting lists for children to be seen.  

 
In response to questions raised, it was reported that - 
 

c. the Chair and Vice-Chair attended a Summit Meeting with Plymouth 
Community Healthcare, Plymouth NHS and Plymouth City Council to 
address the issues raised from the task and finish group; 

 
d. that Duncan Currall, Chair of Plymouth Community Healthcare Board gave 

assurances that this is a top priority. 
 
Agreed that the Children and Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health task and finish report 
is submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board on 30 November 2011. 
 

47. INTEGRATED YOUTH SUPPORT SERVICE   
 
John Miller, Head of Integrated Youth Support presented the report to the panel.  In 
response to questions raised, it was reported that - 
 

a. the youth service was set up to work with 25 percent of the youth 
population, 42 percent of young people were directly involved with Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) came into contact with the 
youth service.  There were a number of young people with mental health 
issues; 

 

Page 4



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

b. the Youth Service were requested to undertake an analysis of youth 
provision in Ham and were currently working with Ward Councillors.  It was 
also reported that the youth service had a 22 percent reduction in funding 
which had a knock on effect on the voluntary and community sector and 
support they give to the youth service; 

 
c. with the right people and partnerships young people with emotional 

problems can be identified.  Through locality working we can work in a more 
preventative way and some of the targeted work to starting to reap the 
benefits; 

 
d. street based work is a vehicle to engage young people that would not 

necessarily come into a youth centre. 
 
Agreed that the panel undertake a task and finish on the Youth Service subject to approval 
from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board. 
 

48. PRIORITIES AND CHALLENGES   
 
Maggie Carter, Assistant Director (Learner and Family Support) presented the report to 
the panel.  It was reported that the figure of 65 percent contained in the report should read 
6.5 percent.  In response to questions raised, it was reported that -  
 

a. in relation to our neighbours the Not in Education, Employment or Training 
(NEETS) Plymouth’s figure look higher; 

 
b. the University Technical College (UTC) is aimed at 14 to 19 year olds to 

provide specialist opportunities for young people from across the city; 
 

c. the main driver for a UTC is the University of Plymouth but a steering group 
would  be set up and would include the local authority to have an input into 
the UTC; 

 
d. No indication on admission criteria – concern with the dates do not tally up 

change from doc – 2013 – it will take young people away from school – the 
detail on how operate had not yet been articulated – driver UoP – the local 
authorities have not been involved – steering group clear that has LA input 
and look at the policies. 

 
Agreed that information is provided on NEETS to the panel on Plymouth’s comparitors. 
 

49. ACADEMIES/SCHOOL FUNDING   
 
The Chair reported that a recent meeting took place between members of this panel and 
Support Services Overview and Scrutiny Panel to discuss issues around academies and 
which panel should scrutinise work on academies.  A proposal is being worked on with 
regard to which panel will scrutinise topics to be agreed by Management Board. 
 
 
 

Page 5



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

50. CHILD POVERTY   
 
William Woyka, Chief Executive, Routeways and Candice Sainsbury, Senior Policy, 
Performance and Partnership Advisor presented the report to the panel. 
 
In response to questions raised, it was reported that - 
 

a. it has been acknowledged nationally that lone parents are the ones to target.  
A working group has been set up with worklessness to properly review that 
and establish the needs and how we address this as a city; 

 
b. there were no real figures on the number of children and young people 

affected by child poverty.  The background information and needs analysis 
provided the data to enable us to write this action plan; 

 
 c. It was hoped the city would tackle child poverty by 2020; 
 
 d. the Government were working on a basket of indicators in response to the 

Graham Allen Review and Frank Fields Review.  Waiting for those indicators 
from Government to link to.  By the time we get to 2020 it will be a much 
broader indicator. 

 
51. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN   

 
Joy Howick, Head of Service, Children in the Community and Theresa Nally, Team 
Manager, Youth Offending Team presented the report to the panel. 
 
In response to questions raised, it was reported that - 
 

a. race and hate crimes would come under the category of public order and 
figures for race and crimes come from the police; 

 
b. the youth offending team had a 20 percent cut in budget and as a result 

managers were reduced and services re-aligned.  Changes were made to 
Case Management and Restorative Justice Team looking at what services 
needed to be delivered which led to a reduction in Social Workers and 
increase in Case Workers; 

 
c. the Alternative Complementary Education (ACE) Service has had some 

significant success in engaging young people to 25 hours of education.  The 
challenge is with the over 16’s due to the range of providers available; 

 
d. there is a high risk of reoffending when a young offender is released from 

custody.  To reduce the risk the Youth Offending Team is working in an 
enhanced way with Children’s Social Care, housing and the Integrated 
Resettlement Support (IRS). 

 
(Councillor Mrs Beer declared a personal and prejudicial interest and left the meeting for this item) 
 
 

Page 6



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Thursday 10 November 2011 

52. WORK PROGRAMME   
 
Claire Oatway, Lead Officer raised with the panel the opportunity to undertake scrutiny 
training at the next meeting. 
 
Agreed that scrutiny training takes place at the next panel meeting on 5 January 2012 
subject to feedback from training undertaken by the other scrutiny panels. 
 

53. EXEMPT BUSINESS   
 
There were no items of exempt business. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



TRACKING RESOLUTIONS 
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

Date/min 
number 

Resolution Explanation / Minute Officer Progress Target 
Date 

16 Jun 2011/ 
Min 3 

Agreed that - 
 
(2) Kevin Willis, Parent Governor 

Representative to continue as a 
statutory co-opted representative 
until the end of his term; 

The panel considered the 
appointment of co-opted 
representatives. 

Claire Oatway, 
Lead Officer 

On-going. May 2012 

(3)  elections to take place shortly to 
recruit new Parent Governor 
Representatives onto the panel; 

 

  No nominations were received 
from the election held in 
December 2012.  New election 
process will now take after the 
May local elections. 

May 2012 
 

(4)  the Vice-Chair to make contact with 
the Diocese on faith representation 
on the panel. 

  The Vice-chair had spoken to 
the Diocese but was awaiting a 
response. 

On-going. 

14 Jul 2011/ 
Min 17 

Agreed that – 
1.   plans for each of the five themes listed 

in the LSP Wise Theme  Group report 
to come back to the panel on a 
regular basis; 

2.   the panel to receive an overview on 
the different theme groups and how 
they fit together and contribute to the 
delivery of the Children and Young 
People’s Plan 2011 – 14; 

The panel received an 
update from the LSP Wise 
Theme Group. 

 Report to comeback to the 
panel at its rearranged 
developmental day. 

On-going. 

A
genda Item

 5
P

age 9



Date/min 
number 

Resolution Explanation / Minute Officer Progress Target 
Date 

14 Jul 2011/ 
18 

2.   information to be provided on the 
work undertaken by the Employment 
and Skills Group; 

The panel received an 
update from the Assistant 
Director for Lifelong 
Learning and the Assistant 
Director for Learner and 
Family Support on the 
priorities and challenges. 

 Briefing paper attached to 
tracking resolutions – appendix 
1. 

On-going. 

6. further information be provided on 
SEN funding for 2012/13 to the panel 
in January 2012. 

  Information to be provided to 
the panel at 05.01.12 meeting. 

05.01.12 

14 Jul 2011/ 
Min 19 

3. further information be provided to the 
panel on the 2011/12 budget for SEN 
transport. 

  Information to be provided to 
the panel at 05.01.12 meeting. 

05.01.12 

14 Jul 2011/ 
Min 20 

Agreed that the issues with in-year admissions 
to be highlighted to the School Admissions 
Forum.  A further report on findings to come 
back to the panel and Councillor Mrs Aspinall 
at a later date. 

  Next meeting of the Schools 
Forum not taken place an 
update to be given to the panel 
on 01.03.12. 

01.03.12 

8 Sept 2011/ 
Min 29 

Agreed that – 
 
2. the panel requested further 

information on staff reduction, 
specifically around the number of 
vacant posts currently held and 
number of posts covered with agency 
staff; 

The panel reviewed the 
budget and performance 
report. 

 In-progress update to be given 
at the panel meeting on 
10.11.11. 

10.11.11 

P
age 10



Date/min 
number 

Resolution Explanation / Minute Officer Progress Target 
Date 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 42 

Agreed that – 
1. the Little Ted’s recommendations are 

submitted to the panel for review; 
2. panel members raise the current 

election process of parent governor 
representatives onto the Children and 
Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
panel with fellow governors. 

Matters Arising Claire Oatway  01.03.12 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 44 

Agreed that – 
 
1. Matthew Currie is invited to be a Young 

Person Co-opted Representative on the 
Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel;  

2. Councillor Stark to raise the matter of 
Faith Representation on the panel with 
the Bishop; 

3. contact is made with the Plymouth 
Centre of Faith and Cultural Diversity to 
explore other opportunities for faith 
representation  on the panel; 

4. further information is provided to the 
panel on the current vacancy and 
Pertemps position within Children 
Services to include a comparison with 
previous years figures. 

 

Tracking resolutions Claire Oatway Matthew Currie has been 
invited to join the CYP OSP as 
a young person representative. 

05.01.12 

P
age 11



Date/min 
number 

Resolution Explanation / Minute Officer Progress Target 
Date 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 45 

Agreed that the Ofsted Annual Performance 
Letter is circulated to the panel. 

Updates from Partner 
Organisations 

Claire Oatway Briefing paper is attached to 
the tracking resolutions – 
appendix 2. 

05.01.12 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 46  

Agreed that the Children and Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health task and finish 
report is submitted to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board on 14 December 
2011. 
 

Tracking Resolutions Claire Oatway Report was submitted to the 
OSMB.  Recommendations 
were agreed and an update to 
the panel under agenda item 6. 

05.01.12 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 47 

Agreed that a task and finish on youth service 
and PID to be pulled together by the Chair 
and Vice-Chair. 
 

Integrated Youth Support 
Service 

Claire Oatway Chair and Vice-chair to have a 
discussion on the Youth 
Service task and finish group 
PID. 

05.01.12 

10Nov 2011/ 
Min 48 

Agreed that information is provided on 
NEETS to the panel on Plymouth’s 
comparitors. 

Priorities and Challenges Claire Oatway Briefing paper is attached to 
the tracking resolutions – 
appendix 3. 

05.01.12 

10 Nov 2011/ 
Min 52 

Agreed that scrutiny training takes place at 
the next panel meeting on 5 January 2012 
subject to feedback from training undertaken 
by the other scrutiny panels. 

Work Programme Claire Oatway Following feedback from the 
other scrutiny panels, CYP 
OSP will not be undertaking 
the scrutiny training on 
05.01.12. 

05.01.12 

 

P
age 12



   

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
5 January 2012 

 
 

Plymouth Employment and Skills Board 
 

The purpose of this briefing si to provide a summary of the work of the Plymouth Employment 
and Skills Board 
 

1. Membership of the Board 

 
Graham Stirling (Chairman)  
David Parlby  
Jacki Williams  
Charles Mills  
Viv Gillespie  
Colin Williams  
Geoff Evans  
Stephen James  
Graham Morris  
George Plenderleith  
Tim Jones  
 

Private sector employer 
Plymouth Chamber of Commerce & Industry 
Jobcentre Plus  
Private sector employer 
City College Plymouth 
University of Plymouth  
Skills Funding Agency  
Plymouth City Council 
PESB Project Director 
Plymouth Guild 
Devon & Cornwall Business Council 
 

 
 
2. Outline of the Employment and Skills Board Skills Action Plan  

Skills Objectives 
1.0 Young People (before entry to labour market) 
 
1.1 – Support Wise Theme Group in encouraging PCC and 14-19 partners to support the 
development of generic employability and enterprise skills in young people, and make best use of 
available resources. 
1.2 – Encourage more employers to engage with City College’s Employer Endorsement Scheme 
in support of the Employability Centre. 
1.3 – Ensure wider employer engagement with apprenticeship provision and increase in number 
of apprenticeship places. 
1.4 – Recommend Plymouth Employment & Skills Board to develop sector based skills maps for 
use by local providers and advice agencies. 
1.5 – Examine whether Gateway provision in University of Plymouth is a model which can be 
adopted for wider use in the city 
 
 
 
 
 

Version and date  Not protectively marked 
 

Page 13



2.0 Jobseekers and those at risk of redundancy 
 
2.1 – Recommend Plymouth Employment & Skills Board to develop and articulate map of 
subcontracted provision for adult job seekers when DWP Work Programme has been 
contracted, and review whether additional actions are necessary to achieve local objectives. 
2.2 – Establish a local action force (referenced to Devon Action Force) to respond quickly to job 
losses in Plymouth and to support those at risk of redundancy (irrespective of scale of job loss in 
individual workplaces) 
 
 
3.0 Adult Workforce 
 
3.1 – Establish productive links between PGAIN and City College Employability Centre. 
3.2 – Review success of Employability Centre and evaluate potential for city-wide multiple-
provider model. 
 
 
 
4.0 Skills in support of economic growth and inward investment 
 
4.1 – Maintain communication links with the diverse skills and employment network, in order to 
develop a model of rapid response which can quickly provide information on skills and labour 
resources which would support major investment and growth. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Annie Singer 

Senior Leadership Adviser, Lifelong Learning, Services for children and Young People 

16 December 2011

 

Page 14



8 November 2011 

Ms Bronwen Lacey  
Director of Children's Services 
Plymouth City Council 
Children’s Services 
Windsor House 
Tavistock Road 
Plymouth  
PL6  5UF 

Dear Ms Lacey 

Annual children’s services assessment 

Ofsted guidance published in April 2011 explains that the annual assessment of 
children’s services is derived from the performance profile of the quality of services 
for children and young people in each local area. This performance profile includes 
findings from across Ofsted’s inspection and regulation of services and settings for 
which the local authority has strategic or operational responsibilities, either alone or 
in partnership with others, together with other published data.   

In reaching the assessment of children’s services, Ofsted has taken account of 
inspection outcomes including the arrangements for making sure children are safe 
and stay safe and performance against similar authorities and/or national measures. 
More weight has been given to the outcomes of Ofsted’s inspections and regulatory 
visits (Blocks A and B in the performance profile).

The annual assessment derives from a four point scale:

4 Performs excellently  An organisation that significantly exceeds minimum requirements 

3 Performs well  An organisation that exceeds minimum requirements  

2 Performs adequately  An organisation that meets only minimum requirements  

1 Performs poorly  An organisation that does not meet minimum requirements  

Within each level there will be differing standards of provision. For example, an 
assessment of ‘performs excellently’ does not mean all aspects of provision are 
perfect. Similarly, an assessment of ‘performs poorly’ does not mean there are no 
adequate or even good aspects. As in 2010, while the performance profile remains 
central to Ofsted’s assessment, meeting or not meeting the minimum requirements 
alone does not define the grade. The assessment has involved the application of 
inspector judgement. 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London 
WC2B  6SE 

T 0300 123 1231 
Textphone 0161 618 8524
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

Direct T 020 7421 6666 
Direct F 020 7421 5633 
Juliet.Winstanley@ofsted.gov.uk

Appendix 2
Page 15



2

Plymouth City Council children’s services assessment 2011

Children’s services assessment Performs excellently (4) 

Children’s services in Plymouth City Council perform excellently. This marks a notable 
improvement on the good performance in 2010. The large majority of services, 
settings and institutions inspected by Ofsted are good or outstanding and provision 
of high quality helps children and young people learn well and stay safe. The local 
authority has built effectively on its well-established strengths. Inspection grades for 
primary and secondary schools, as well as the adoption service, have improved. In 
other respects, the strengths and areas for development have not changed 
significantly in the last year. A number of schools have now become academies. Most 
of these schools were judged to be good or better at their last inspection and these 
judgements have been taken into account in making this assessment. 

An announced inspection, in 2010, judged safeguarding arrangements and services 
for looked after children to be good with some features, for example strategic 
leadership, service management and partnership work, that are outstanding. A more 
recent unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment arrangements for 
children in need and children who may be in need of protection found three 
strengths, many satisfactory aspects and a number of areas for development. There 
were no priority actions requiring urgent attention.   

Strengths 

 The large majority of childminding and childcare providers remain good or 
better. Six of the eight children’s centres that have been inspected are 
good or outstanding and the other two are satisfactory.  

 For children under five, the very large majority of nursery schools and 
Early Years Foundation Stage provision in primary schools are good or 
outstanding. Levels of development achieved by five-year-olds are in line 
with similar areas and the national average, and have improved well over 
the last four years. The attainment gap between children from low-income 
families and all five-year-olds locally is closing. 

 The proportion of primary schools that are good are better has increased 
since 2010 and the large majority are now good or outstanding.
Standards at Key Stage 2 are in line with the average elsewhere, with 
children making better than average progress in mathematics than their 
peers in similar areas. However, provisional Key Stage 2 results indicate a 
decline in 2011.

 As in 2010, the large majority of secondary schools are good or better. 
The two schools inspected since the last assessment improved from good 
to outstanding. Levels of persistent school absence are consistently below 
the average for similar areas. Attainment at Key Stage 4 is in line with the 
average for similar areas and found nationally and, over the last four 
years, has improved at a faster rate than elsewhere. Young people from 

Page 16



3

low-income backgrounds and those with special educational needs do 
better than the average for their peers elsewhere, with results that are 
improving year on year at a faster pace.  

 For young people staying on in education or training, the large majority of 
provision in school sixth forms is good or better. Achievement of level 2 
qualifications by the age of 19 is in line with similar areas and the national 
average. The attainment gap at this level, between young people from 
low-income backgrounds and the majority of the same age in Plymouth, is 
closing.

 Services for looked after children are good, with good capacity to improve. 
Children and young people’s involvement in decisions that affect their lives 
and the services they use is outstanding. Outcomes in all other respects, 
including health and education, are good. The local authority currently 
commissions places in two children’s homes. One is outstanding and the 
other is good.  All fostering and adoption services are good or better. The 
local authority adoption service improved from good to outstanding during 
the year. 

Areas for further improvement 

 At the age of 19, achievement at level 3, an area for development in 
2010, remains below the average for similar areas. The gap between 
young people from low-income backgrounds and the majority at this level 
is wider than average and increasing.

 The quality of specialist education provision remains mixed. While none is 
inadequate and the three residential schools are good or better, more 
than half of the local authority special schools, both special school sixth 
forms and the pupil referral unit are only satisfactory. Action has been 
taken to reorganise and improve provision in the pupil referral unit, but 
the new arrangements have not been inspected since the changes took 
place.

This children’s services assessment is provided in accordance with section 138 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

Yours sincerely 

Juliet Winstanley 
Divisional Manager, Children’s Services Assessment 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



N
E

E
T

 (
N

o
t 

in
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
o

r 
T

ra
in

in
g

)

N
E

E
T

 -
 b

et
w

ee
n

 2
00

6/
07

 a
n

d
 2

01
0/

11

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

P
ly

m
o

u
th

7.
4%

6.
8%

7.
4%

6.
7%

7.
1%

5.
3%

4.
8%

3.
9%

S
ta

ti
st

ic
al

 N
ei

g
h

b
o

u
rs

8.
7%

8.
2%

8.
0%

7.
8%

7.
2%

N
at

io
n

al
 A

ve
ra

g
e

7.
7%

6.
7%

6.
7%

6.
4%

6.
0%

S
o

u
th

 W
es

t
6.

0%
5.

5%
5.

7%
5.

6%
5.

3%

N
E

E
T

 -
 Q

u
ar

te
rl

y 
b

et
w

ee
n

 2
00

9/
10

 a
n

d
 2

01
0/

11

A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

9.
0%

6.
1%

8.
3%

6.
1%

6.
6%

6.
1%

6.
5%

6.
1%

6.
5%

5.
8%

8.
2%

5.
8%

6.
6%

5.
8%

7.
4%

5.
8%

8.
1%

5.
3%

* 
E

 P
er

fo
rm

 

N
E

E
T

 -
 L

oc
al

ity
 B

re
ak

do
w

n
Ju

n
-2

00
6

Ju
n

-2
00

7
Ju

n
-2

00
8

Ju
n

-2
00

9
Ju

n
-2

01
0

Ju
n

-2
01

1
C

en
tr

al
/N

or
th

 E
as

t
5.

8%
4.

9%
4.

0%
5.

2%
3.

0%
4.

3%
N

or
th

 W
es

t
12

.9
%

10
.5

%
10

.9
%

14
.8

%
10

.1
%

9.
8%

P
ly

m
pt

on
3.

9 %
3.

5%
2.

5%
3.

6%
4.

2%
3.

3%
P

ly
m

st
oc

k
7.

0 %
4.

0%
3.

5%
4.

6%
4.

4%
3.

9%
S

ou
th

 E
as

t
12

.1
%

10
.4

%
12

.0
%

10
.3

%
6.

3%
9.

5%

S
ou

th
 W

es
t

16
.8

%
14

.0
%

12
.8

%
14

.9
%

12
.7

%
15

.0
%

P
ly

m
o

u
th

9.
2%

7.
9%

7.
5%

9.
2%

6.
5%

7.
4%

(8
.9

%
)

 S
o
u
rc

e
: 
C

a
re

e
rs

 S
o
u
th

 W
e
s
t 

1
3
/0

9
/1

1

Q
T

R
1 

20
11

/1
2

Q
T

R
1 

20
10

/1
1

Q
T

R
2 

20
10

/1
1

Q
T

R
3 

20
10

/1
1

Q
T

R
4 

20
10

/1
1

Q
T

R
3 

20
09

/1
0

Q
T

R
4 

20
09

/1
0

D
at

a
T

ar
g

et

Q
u

ar
te

r

Q
T

R
1 

20
09

/1
0

Q
T

R
2 

20
09

/1
0

N
E

E
T

 -
 b

et
w

ee
n

 2
00

6/
07

 t
o

 2
01

0/
11

0

0.
01

0.
02

0.
03

0.
04

0.
05

0.
06

0.
07

0.
08

0.
090.

1

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

P
ly

m
ou

th
S

ta
tis

tic
al

 N
ei

gh
bo

ur
s

N
at

io
na

l A
ve

ra
ge

N
E

E
T

 b
y 

L
o

ca
lit

y 
20

06
-2

01
0

0
0.

02
0.

04
0.

06
0.

080.
1

0.
12

0.
14

0.
16

0.
18

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

C
en

tr
al

/N
or

th
 E

as
t

N
or

th
 W

es
t

P
ly

m
pt

on
P

ly
m

st
oc

k
S

ou
th

 E
as

t
S

ou
th

 W
es

t

A
p
p
e
n
d
i
x
3

Page 19



P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
16

-1
8 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
N

E
E

T
: 

20
10

 [
1]

 [
5]

N
I1

17
S

ou
rc

e 
= 

D
F

E
  h

ttp
://

m
ed

ia
.e

du
ca

tio
n.

go
v.

uk
/a

ss
et

s/
fil

es
/x

ls
/2

/2
01

0%
20

ne
et

%
20

fig
ur

es
.x

ls
   

O
N

 1
2/

09
/1

1

B
ew

ar
e 

th
at

 t
h

es
e 

fi
g

u
re

s 
w

er
e 

p
u

b
lis

h
ed

 in
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 2

01
1 

an
d

 a
re

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n

al
. D

fE
 w

ill
 p

u
b

lis
h

 s
o

o
n

 (
b

ef
o

re
 D

ec
em

b
er

) 
n

ew
 f

ig
u

re
s.

S
T

A
T

IS
T

IC
A

L
 N

E
IG

H
B

O
U

R
S

E
st

im
at

ed
nu

m
be

r
%

P
ly

m
o

u
th

9,
06

3
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
64

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
7.

1%
1.

5%
Is

le
 o

f W
ig

ht
4,

06
7

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

23
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5.
7%

5.
2%

P
or

ts
m

ou
th

 
3,

88
7

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

44
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

11
.3

%
8.

6%
S

ou
th

am
pt

on
 

5,
98

1
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
59

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9.

8%
5.

7%
R

ot
he

rh
am

 
10

,6
44

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

70
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

6.
6%

3.
1%

S
he

ffi
el

d 
15

,3
30

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

1,
35

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
  

8.
8%

5.
8%

P
et

er
bo

ro
ug

h 
6,

34
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

50
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

7.
9%

1.
3%

S
ou

th
en

d 
8,

09
8

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

41
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5.
1%

2.
6%

T
el

fo
rd

 a
nd

 W
re

ki
n 

5,
88

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
46

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
7.

8%
7.

0%
B

ou
rn

em
ou

th
4,

53
1

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4.
3%

1.
5%

T
or

ba
y 

5,
30

2
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
22

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4.

2%
1.

0%

st
at

is
tic

al
 n

ei
gh

bo
ur

s 
w

ith
 P

ly
m

ou
th

79
,1

23
 

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
5,

74
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
7.

3%

st
at

is
ti

ca
l n

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rs
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
70

,0
60

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

5,
10

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
  

7.
3%

N
o

te
s

[1
]

[2
]

[3
] 

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

kn
ow

n 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

in
g 

a 
G

ap
 y

ea
r,

 o
r 

in
 c

us
to

dy
, a

re
 n

ot
 r

ec
or

de
d 

as
 N

E
E

T

[4
]

[5
]

[6
]

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
fig

ur
es

 c
an

no
t b

e 
co

m
pa

re
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

D
fE

 e
st

im
at

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
N

E
E

T
 a

s 
th

ey
 r

el
at

e 
to

 th
e 

ac
tu

al
 a

ge
 (

ra
th

er
 th

an
 a

ca
de

m
ic

 a
ge

) 
of

 
th

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
rs

on
, a

nd
 u

se
 d

iff
er

en
t d

ef
in

iti
on

s.
 

R
ut

la
nd

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

di
d 

no
t p

ro
vi

de
 d

at
a

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

kn
ow

n 
to

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l 
A

ut
ho

rit
y 

[2
]

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

N
E

E
T

 [3
] [

4]
%

 1
6-

18
 y

r 
ol

ds
 

w
ho

se
 a

ct
iv

ity
 is

 
no

t k
no

w
n

 2
01

0 
da

ta
 a

re
 a

n 
av

er
ag

e 
at

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10

, D
ec

em
be

r 
20

10
 a

nd
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
1.

 T
he

y 
in

cl
ud

e 
al

l y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
kn

ow
n 

to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
y 

w
ho

 w
er

e 
ag

ed
 

16
, 1

7 
or

 1
8 

at
 th

at
 ti

m
e.

 

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 1

6-
18

 y
ea

r 
ol

ds
 k

no
w

n 
to

 th
e 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
in

cl
ud

es
 th

os
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 a
tte

nd
in

g 
sc

ho
ol

 o
r 

co
lle

ge
 in

 th
e 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
ar

ea
, r

eg
ar

dl
es

s 
of

 w
he

re
 th

ey
 r

es
id

e

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

an
d 

%
 o

f 1
6-

18
 y

ea
r 

ol
ds

 N
E

E
T

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
ad

us
te

d 
to

 a
ss

um
e 

a 
pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 th

os
e 

w
ho

se
 c

ur
re

nt
 a

ct
iv

ity
 is

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

ar
e 

N
E

E
T

Page 20



P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
16

-1
8 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
N

E
E

T
: 

20
10

 [
1]

 [
5]

N
I1

17
S

ou
rc

e 
= 

D
F

E
  h

ttp
://

m
ed

ia
.e

du
ca

tio
n.

go
v.

uk
/a

ss
et

s/
fil

es
/x

ls
/2

/2
01

0%
20

ne
et

%
20

fig
ur

es
.x

ls
   

O
N

 1
2/

09
/1

1

B
ew

ar
e 

th
at

 t
h

es
e 

fi
g

u
re

s 
w

er
e 

p
u

b
lis

h
ed

 in
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 2

01
1 

an
d

 a
re

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n

al
. D

fE
 w

ill
 p

u
b

lis
h

 s
o

o
n

 (
b

ef
o

re
 D

ec
em

b
er

) 
n

ew
 f

ig
u

re
s.

S
O

U
T

H
 W

E
S

T
E

st
im

at
ed

 n
um

be
r

%

S
ou

th
 W

es
t R

eg
io

n
15

6,
37

9
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
8,

29
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
5.

3%
2.

8%
B

at
h 

&
 N

E
 S

om
er

se
t 

5,
50

3
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

19
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

3.
4%

2.
7%

B
ou

rn
em

ou
th

4,
53

1
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

20
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

4.
3%

1.
5%

B
ris

to
l 

10
,9

41
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
82

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
7.

5%
4.

1%
C

or
nw

al
l 

16
,8

25
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
93

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
5.

5%
1.

0%
D

ev
on

 
20

,3
16

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
26

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

6.
2%

1.
4%

D
or

se
t

11
,1

35
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
66

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
5.

9%
2.

0%
G

lo
uc

es
te

rs
hi

re
18

,5
52

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

59
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

3.
2%

2.
1%

Is
le

s 
of

 S
ci

lly
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

0%
0.

0%
N

or
th

 S
om

er
se

t 
5,

56
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
22

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
4.

0%
1.

6%
P

ly
m

ou
th

 
9,

06
3

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
64

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
7.

1%
1.

5%
P

oo
le

4,
58

9
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

24
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

5.
3%

2.
0%

S
om

er
se

t
16

,0
54

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

69
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

4.
3%

7.
3%

S
ou

th
 G

lo
uc

es
te

rs
hi

re
 

9,
05

5
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

34
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

3.
7%

1.
8%

S
w

in
do

n
7,

10
2

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
44

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
6.

2%
7.

0%
T

or
ba

y 
5,

30
2

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
22

0
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
4.

2%
1.

0%
W

ilt
sh

ire
11

,8
48

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

81
0

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

6.
8%

3.
7%

N
o

te
s

[1
]

[2
]

[3
] 

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

kn
ow

n 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

in
g 

a 
G

ap
 y

ea
r,

 o
r 

in
 c

us
to

dy
, a

re
 n

ot
 r

ec
or

de
d 

as
 N

E
E

T

[4
]

[5
]

[6
]

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
fig

ur
es

 c
an

no
t b

e 
co

m
pa

re
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

D
fE

 e
st

im
at

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
N

E
E

T
 a

s 
th

ey
 r

el
at

e 
to

 th
e 

ac
tu

al
 a

ge
 (

ra
th

er
 

th
an

 a
ca

de
m

ic
 a

ge
) 

of
 th

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
rs

on
, a

nd
 u

se
 d

iff
er

en
t d

ef
in

iti
on

s.
 

R
ut

la
nd

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

di
d 

no
t p

ro
vi

de
 d

at
a

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

kn
ow

n 
to

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l A
ut

ho
rit

y 
[2

]

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

N
E

E
T

 [3
] [

4]
%

 1
6-

18
 y

r 
ol

ds
 w

ho
se

 
ac

tiv
ity

 is
 

no
t k

no
w

n

 2
01

0 
da

ta
 a

re
 a

n 
av

er
ag

e 
at

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10

, D
ec

em
be

r 
20

10
 a

nd
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
1.

 T
he

y 
in

cl
ud

e 
al

l y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
kn

ow
n 

to
 th

e 
lo

ca
l 

au
th

or
ity

 w
ho

 w
er

e 
ag

ed
 1

6,
 1

7 
or

 1
8 

at
 th

at
 ti

m
e.

 

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 1

6-
18

 y
ea

r 
ol

ds
 k

no
w

n 
to

 th
e 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
in

cl
ud

es
 th

os
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 a
tte

nd
in

g 
sc

ho
ol

 o
r 

co
lle

ge
 in

 th
e 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

y 
ar

ea
, 

re
ga

rd
le

ss
 o

f w
he

re
 th

ey
 r

es
id

e

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

an
d 

%
 o

f 1
6-

18
 y

ea
r 

ol
ds

 N
E

E
T

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
ad

us
te

d 
to

 a
ss

um
e 

a 
pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 th

os
e 

w
ho

se
 c

ur
re

nt
 a

ct
iv

ity
 is

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

ar
e 

N
E

E
T

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN’S EMOTIONAL WELL BEING AND MENTAL HEALTH Page 1 of 16 

CHILDREN’S EMOTIONAL WELL 
BEING AND MENTAL HEALTH 
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel Task and Finish Group 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Page 23



 Page 2 of 16 

 
 
 
 
 
CONTENTS 
 
1. Introduction 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
4. Scrutiny Approach 

 
5. Key Issues Arising from the Evidence 

 
6. Findings: 

 
6a Context in Plymouth 
 
6b Prevention and Promotion 
 
6c Early Intervention 
 
6d Specialist Services     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 Page 3 of 16 

 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel scrutinises matters relating to 
the health and well being of children and young people living and learning in the city.  The Panel 
reviews the impact of services provided by agencies ranging from the Council, Health, Police, 
schools and colleges and the Voluntary and Community Sector.  The panel also considers the 
impact of partnerships such as the Children and Young People’s Trust, the Plymouth 
Safeguarding Children Board and Plymouth 2020 Wise Theme Group. 
 
One of the issues considered by the panel is the emotional wellbeing and mental health of 
children and young people.  This has been prioritised because of concerns about the emotional 
health of children as reported through the Tellus 4 survey and through campaigning in Youth 
Parliament elections. The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel convened a 
task and finish group in October 2011 to hear evidence from professionals from across the city 
to understand the prevalence of mental health needs among children and young people and to 
review the Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health strategy and its 
development.   
 
This report summarises the findings of that review and makes recommendations for 
improvements to key services. 
 
2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The scope of this review encompasses the broad range of mental health needs among children 
and young people across Plymouth, and the extent to which they are being effectively met.  
Around 15% of the the under 18 population, or 7800 individuals need some form of support in 
relation to their emotional wellbeing and mental health.  The panel found that, although there is 
a broad range of services in place to provide preventative or early interventions, there does not 
appear to be a coherent framework in place providing appropriate access to these services for 
young people and their families.  Schools do not feel fully supported by professional services in 
addressing emotional wellbeing issues once identified, and there is a perceived lack of direct 
intervention services, including counselling and family therapy. 
 
Crucially, the review identified performance issues relating to the Child and Adolescent Service 
Multi-Disciplinary Team provided by Plymouth Community Healthcare, resulting in a backlog of 
over 250 children awaiting treatment, some for several months.  The Panel are concerned about 
performance management arrangements relating to this service, and the resulting impact on the 
affected children and young people. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 Page 4 of 16 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
R1 The Panel extends its congratulations to members of the Youth Cabinet for their work 

in carrying out the survey of attitudes towards mental health that is referenced in this 
report 

R2 Representatives of Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel attend the 
Youth Cabinet to feed back on the report and recommendations following task and 
finish review 

R3 The Council should consider the use of social media networks to promote consultation 
initiatives  

R4 The Children’s Trust allocates responsibility to a lead agency to develop a framework 
that clearly identifies the roles of statutory and non-statutory agencies and the 
resources available both in prevention and early intervention work with regard to 
mental health among children and young people. 

R5 The Children’s Trust review reasons for non attendance of key professionals at 
Common Assessment Framework meetings, and make recommendations to ensure that 
such meetings are timely and properly resourced, with particular attention being paid to 
the role of Educational Psychologists and communication interaction professionals. 

R6 Plymouth Community Healthcare (PCH) prepare a communications strategy with 
respect to children and young people’s mental health and revise content of media as 
appropriate 

R7 The Panel commends the Excellence Cluster for their flexible approach to the delivery 
of services and the best practice demonstrated in their work 

R8  PCC and PCT commissioners review the range of early intervention services available 
and assess the value for money of the range of options. 

R9 The Council ensures that key universal services including schools and youth services are 
notified of alternative counselling services available in the city. 

R10 The Council update the Panel regarding the impact of new multi-disciplinary locality 
teams on Children’s emotional well being and mental health services in six months 

R11 An urgent summit meeting to be arranged between strategic leads from CYPOSP, PCC, 
PCT and PCH regarding the findings of this report 

R12 PCH review the cost effectiveness of participation support services for young people 
using mental health services 

R13 The Children’s Trust investigate and report on ways in which the work of clinicians and 
other children’s professionals can be better coordinated with respect to mental health 
support 

R14 The Children’s Trust establishes a clear and transparent process for the identification, 
monitoring and escalation of issues such as those identified in this report.  

R15 Commissioners from the Children’s Trust provide interim updates to CYPOSP on the 
response to these recommendations. 

Page 26



 Page 5 of 16 

 
4 SCRUTINY APPROACH 
 

 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board approved in principle on 21 September 2011, the 
establishment of a Task and Finish Group to review Children’s Emotional Well being and Mental 
Health with membership drawn from the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. 

 
 Task and Finish Objectives 
 

The group was asked to: 
 
• Understand the prevalence of mental health needs among children and young people 
• Review the Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health strategy 
and developments 

 
  The Work Programme Request (PID) is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
Membership 

 
The Task and Finish Group had cross party membership comprising the following Councillors – 

 
• Councillor Wildy (Chair) 
• Councillor Stark (Vice Chair) 
• Councillor Bowie 
• Councillor Mrs Bowyer 
• Councillor Delbridge 
• Councillor Tuohy 
 

For the purposes of the review, the Task and Finish Group was supported by - 
 
• Claire Oatway, Lead Officer for Children and Young People OSP 
• Liz Cahill, Commissioning Officer and Panel Adviser 
• Amelia Boulter, Democratic Support Officer 
 

Methodology 
 

The Task and Finish Group convened over two days 11th and 12th October 2011 to consider 
evidence and hear from witnesses – 

 
 
• Camille Smith, Routeways 
• Alistair Baggott, Routeways 
• Caroline Storer, Platform 51 
• Wendy Brett, Headteacher, Sir John Hunt 
• Lisa Hartley, Excellence Cluster 
• Mel McMahon, Excellence Cluster 
• Emily Carter, Member of Youth Parliament and Kerry Whittlesea 
• Alan Fuller, Principal Educational Psychologist, Plymouth City Council 
• Cate Simmons, Head of Children Services, Plymouth Community Healthcare 
• Dan O’Toole, Director of Finance, Plymouth Community Healthcare 

Page 27



 Page 6 of 16 

• Michelle Thomas, Operations Director, Plymouth Community Healthcare 
• Fiona Fleming, Commissioning Manager, Plymouth City Council 
• Paul O’Sullivan, Director of Joint Commissioning, Plymouth Primary Care Trust 

 
Background material provided to the group included: 
 

• Briefing Paper 
• Mental Health 5-a-day leaflets for Children, Young People and Young Adults 
• Extract from Children’s Fund Consultation 2010 – Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 
• ‘Improving the State of our Minds’ – Emotional Wellbeing and mental Health of Children 
and Young People in Plymouth – Joint commissioning Strategy 2009 – 2014 

• An Introduction to Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health in 
Plymouth Needs Analysis 

•  South West Public Health Observatory – Children’s and Young People’s Mental  Health in 
the South West 

• Presentation from Youth Parliament 
 
5 KEY ISSUES ARISING FROM THE EVIDENCE 
 
The focus for the task and finish group was intended to be on the range of emotional wellbeing 
and mental health issues in the city. There are some findings and recommendations relating to 
this broad spectrum of work. However, a disproportionate amount of time was taken to 
consider performance issues within Plymouth Community Healthcare’s Child and Adolescent 
Service Multi-Disciplinary Team. This specialist service currently has 254 children awaiting 
treatment, some for several months.  
 
• It is estimated that approximately 15% of the under-18 population need some form of 
support in relation to their emotional wellbeing and mental health. there are a number of young 
people who are effectively hidden and not accessing services who are at a higher risk because 
they haven’t been able to access preventative or early intervention services. 

 
• A broad range of services are in place across the city to provide preventative or early 
intervention services. However, there is no coherent framework around these services which 
can make it difficult for young people or families to access them. 
 

• Schools have a number of professionals who have been trained to intervene. Where 
children need more targeted support a CAF assessment will be held. It can be difficult to pull 
together all relevant professionals around the table which leads to a lack of knowledge among 
workers and delays in the support provided. This also leads to schools feeling left with an issue 
that should have multi-disciplinary ownership. 

 
• Young people do not tend to seek advice from professionals – particularly GPs and 
teachers if they have a problem. Friends were seen as more of a comfort when young people 
have an issue and could be in similar situation. 
 
• Direct interventions including counselling and family therapy were seen as effective in 
containing and resolving issues. However, there was a perceived lack of services in the City. 
 

Page 28



 Page 7 of 16 

• More than 250 children are currently on a waiting list for the specialist multi-disciplinary 
team. For children had waited 6 months and longer for a referral, it is quicker for parents to 
refer through their GP. 

 
• Contract monitoring had identified a backlog in Autumn 2010. However, there has been a 
significant delay in remedial action by the provider service. An intervention plan has now been 
developed – awaiting sign-off - that brings in professionals from other services to ensure young 
people and their families get urgent support. 
 
• By the time the children were referred to CAMHS their needs were complex and the 
service could not respond to new children coming in. 
 

• Issues of confidence in resolving the problems emerged during the review. There was 
significant concern among members of the panel about the impact that delays were having on 
children and families and the impact this backlog was having on other services for children 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 29



 Page 8 of 16 

6 FINDINGS 
6a Context In Plymouth 

 
The World Health Organisation defines mental health as : 
 
‘A state of well being in which every individual realises his or her own potential, can cope with the normal 
stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully and is able to make a contribution to his or her 
community’ 
 
The Mental Health Foundation describes emotional wellbeing as : 
 
‘A positive sense of wellbeing which enables an individual to be able to function in society and meet the 
demands of everyday life; people in good mental health have the ability to recover effectively from illness, 
change or misfortune.’ 
 
For the purpose of the strategy and this paper child and adolescent mental health services or  
‘CAMHS’ is defined in its broadest sense to include all services that promote emotional well-
being and develop good mental health, as well as those which respond to and meet the mental 
health needs of children and young people through assessment and support. 
An Introduction to Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health in 
Plymouth: Needs Analysis November 2008 gives a full breakdown of need, including stakeholder 
consultation, and found that national prevalence of mental health need for children and young 
people under 18, described at three levels of need1, is: 
  

• Those whose needs require use of a specific specialist service. This is estimated at 2.5% 
of the population (1,040 in Plymouth), including a very small % that may require inpatient 
care.  

• Those whose needs can be managed by other professionals with the relevant skills and 
experience. This is estimated at 7.0% of the population (3,600 in Plymouth) 

• Those who experience mild emotional and behavioural difficulties or early stages of 
disorders. This is estimated at 15% of the population (7,800 in Plymouth) 

 
We should expect to see increased levels and severity of the problems faced in Plymouth due to 
the correlation between social deprivation and mental health problems 
 
There are some groups of children and young people who experience particular risks to mental 
health, these include; those with learning disabilities; Children in Care; asylum seekers and 
refugees; those in the criminal justice system. 
 

There are also some clear inter-relationships between mental health and childhood abuse and 
trauma, substance misuse, chaotic family backgrounds and parental mental illness. 

The Panel was impressed with engagement work undertaken in the city, but concerned with 
value for money issues with the Routeways contract relating to the very small number of young 
people they were working with and funded by CAMHS.  Queries were raised as to how much of 
CAMHS works is subcontracted and to whom. 

 

 

                                            
1 Research by Child and Maternal Intelligence Unit 

Page 30



 Page 9 of 16 

On behalf of the Children’s Trust, the Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and 
Mental Health Partnership (the Partnership) was formed in 2007. It consists of representatives 
across schools, health services, early years services, youth services, social care and the voluntary 
and community sector. It was formed to have oversight of improvements in children’s emotional 
wellbeing and mental health services. 

 
The strategy outlines key objectives for improvement based on three strategic outcomes: 

 

This framework will be used to organise findings from other written submissions and evidence 
 

6b. Prevention and Promotion 
 

The panel received a variety of evidence outlining young people’s views of mental health and 
support. The 2010 Children’s Fund consultation asked 2532 young people aged 10-16 about 
mental health and emotional wellbeing including feeling angry or unhappy and support they 
receive. Headline results are shown below: 

 

 Certainly 
True 

Somewhat 
True 

Not true 

I get very angry and often 
lose my temper 

632 1141 515 

I worry a lot 459 1143 685 

I am often unhappy, 
downhearted or tearful 

206 785 1274 

  

 Yes No 

Would you talk to someone if you were 
worried about your emotional health? 

1548 682 

Have you ever asked for advice about your 
emotional health 

200 1958 

If yes, was the advice helpful? 162 36 

 

Area of Work Outcomes 
Promotion and Prevention Raise aspirations, address stigma and discrimination, and 

increase resilience of children, young people and their families in 
relation to their emotional wellbeing and mental health. 
 

Early Intervention Children, young people and families with emerging mental 
health needs receive support that prevents problems developing 
further, and reduces the impact of this on their lives. 
 

Specialist Services Ensure delivery of integrated services for children and young 
people with identified mental health needs. 

Page 31



 Page 10 of 16 

 
Young people responded to the invitation to provide evidence by carrying out an online survey. 
The survey was supported by PCC and was advertised via an independent facebook page, more 
than 120 young people took part in the survey over a two week period and the spread was 
representative across the City. 

 
Who would you talk to if there was a problem? 

 

 % Answer  
Friend  29%  
Parents  22%  
Youth Worker  14%  
Teacher  9%  
Doctor  7%  
Sibling  7%  
Other members of family  6%  
Someone else 6% 

 
 

• Respondants would like to see a range of options not necessarily through GP and someone 
to talk to 

• Young people are worried about being judged if they ask for help and don’t feel that they 
necessarily trust a doctor enough to tell them exactly what is going on. 

• Friends were seen as a good source of support because they are with young people on a 
regular basis, are normally the same age and young people would trust their advice 

• Perception that ‘something is wrong with you’ if you have poor mental health 
• Over a quarter of people asked didn’t know if services were available close by to help them if 

they needed it 
• Almost 60% of young people had received counselling, however this may include a range of 

support including mentoring at school, may be over different lengths of time and may not be 
of a consistent quality. 

• Young people hear about emotional health through school lessons and youth work session 
but the experience was inconsistent across schools and year groups 

• Other results could be due to relationship between teacher and student and whether young 
people access youth services. Other members of the family wouldn’t be approached because 
of concern that parents would be told. 

 
R1 The Panel extends its congratulations to members of the Youth Cabinet for their work 

in carrying out the survey of attitudes towards mental health that is referenced in this 
report 

R2 Representatives of Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel attend the 
Youth Cabinet to feed back on the report and recommendations following task and 
finish review 

R3 The Council should consider the use of social media networks to promote consultation 
initiatives  

 
The panel heard that a number of services had developed prevention and promotion responses. 
Schools in particular are playing a major role. In 2010, 97% of Plymouth schools achieved Healthy 
School status. Healthy Schools Plus has now been rolled out in three phases with a total of 28 
schools choosing to focus on mental health as their key area of need. A recent evaluation of this 

Page 32



 Page 11 of 16 

programme showed that young people report they are better at managing their feelings and are 
more ready to learn. 

The panel heard from a headteacher: 
 

• If a child is not ‘in a good place to learn’ then they will not progress. Whilst there is an underlying 
drive towards teaching and learning schools are providing appropriate pastoral care to support 
that learning. In addition, schools tend to be where a crisis happens and rapid support is needed. 

• A range of pastoral support is available including learning mentors, pastoral leaders and family 
liaison workers in school. Targeted services are bought in e.g. this school currently buys in two 
days a week counselling service. There are good links with other services including voluntary and 
community services, the Salvation Army, the Youth Service and a Connexions adviser 

• The school workforce had been trained at the discretion of the headteacher to identify mental 
health issues and to provide a first level of response.  

• Where schools have a concern they will call a Common Assessment Framework (CAF) meeting. 
Not all professionals attend which can lead to a delay in interventions starting, gaps in knowledge 
and concern that not all professionals working with the family have heard the issues. Sometimes 
the meeting is delayed or does not go ahead – instead being escalated via another route. In 
particular Educational Psychologists and Communication Interaction professionals miss meetings. 
This in effect leaves the issue as a school problem when the support of other agencies is needed.  

• Headteachers had to make choices about how to allocate resources. Many schools worked 
together to provide support through economies of scale. Schools do not have a clear framework 
around levels of support and share expertise across school areas, sometimes developing pilots 
together. 

 
R4 The Children’s Trust allocates responsibility to a lead agency to develop a framework 

that clearly identifies the roles of statutory and non-statutory agencies and the 
resources available both in prevention and early intervention work with regard to 
mental health among children and young people. 

R5 The Children’s Trust review reasons for non attendance of key professionals at 
Common Assessment Framework meetings, and make recommendations to ensure that 
such meetings are timely and properly resourced, with particular attention being paid to 
the role of Educational Psychologists and communication interaction professionals. 

 
 

The panel heard that the Plymouth Community Healthcare had commissioned a series of leaflets 
promoting mental health to children, young people and young adults. The leaflets had been 
designed based on survey evidence from young people through Routeways and the actual format 
was developed by students at Notre Dame school. The leaflets had been launched in April 2011 
and the level of reach would be tested in an upcoming survey of young people this Autumn. 

 
Panel members were concerned that the language used in the leaflets was duplicated across all 
age groups and the only apparent customisation was in the use of pictures or photographs. It 
was felt by several members of the panel that the text used whilst general was not accessible or 
engaging for target audiences, particularly older young people.  
Panel heard that the leaflet was left in key areas on  school sites and the issues formed part the 
wider Social Emotional A Literacy curriculum. 
 
R6 Plymouth Community Healthcare (PCH) prepare a communications strategy with 

respect to children and young people’s mental health and revise content of media as 
appropriate 

 
 

Page 33



 Page 12 of 16 

6c. Early Intervention 

 
A broad range of services were commissioned by members of the Children’s Trust to deliver 
counselling or psychological therapy services. This support was either on a consultative basis –
for example providing support including training to professionals working with children and 
families, or on a more directive basis with direct work – typically counselling or psychological 
therapy including family therapy being provided directly to the young person. There is mixed 
opinion about sufficiency of services – including a feeling that young people are having a lot of 
direct, informal work through support staff working as para-professionals. 

 
The Excellence Cluster described their services: 
 
• Providing mentoring support, counselling and therapeutic support and integrated 
professional sport advising professionals and schools.  
• Providing intensive support at ealiest stage – not normal, service model designed around 
the child as opposed to the professional working with thechild. 
• Working as part of a practice network with other professionals providing psychological 
support at a targeted level – coordinated by CAMHS, Routeways, Zone, Hamoaze etc. However 
need to do more to develop model of cohesive and connected services. Perception that there is 
‘plenty of work for everyone’. 
• Reported a high degree of interest from schools with previous linked schools reinvesting / 
recycling their package of support so that other schools can have same experience 
• Reported requests from schools and  other services to review targeted intervention and 
how funding is used to access counselling and therapeutic work to ensure spread and access and 
so de-escalate need. 
 
The Excellence Cluster described perceived gaps in service provision: 
 

• family therapy in primary and secondary schools  
• limited access to art or drama therapy then only provided after been through different elements 
of service 

• time limits on services don’t necessarily meet with needs of the child. 
• not all schools take up service – secondary schools may get cheaper service elsewhere 
• lower cost or free to access counselling services 
 
R7 The Panel commends the Excellence Cluster for their flexible approach to the delivery 

of services and the best practice demonstrated in their work 
 

 
Among the examples given was the Zone’s counselling service. This was an open access service 
that was funded via Public Health. It was recently publicly announced that the Zone would be 
ceasing the CAMHS service. In a paper submitted to the panel the organisation suggested that 
demand outstripped the level of funding and that it felt that it could no longer subsidise the 
service. According to the report, demand increased by 36% year on year with 136 young people 
seen in the first quarter. 

 
The panel asked witnesses about the service, some had used the service to support young 
people as an independent setting outside school. Witnesses had not been made aware of the 
closure of the service nor of alternative provision available in the City. 

 
  

Page 34



 Page 13 of 16 

R8  PCC and PCT commissioners review the range of early intervention services available 
and assess the value for money of the range of options. 

R9 The Council ensures that key universal services including schools and youth services are 
notified of alternative counselling services available in the city. 

 
 

The panel heard from the Educational psychology service about the reorganisation of services 
around localities with a more focussed offer of prevention and early intervention support for 
children and young people. In the new service design multi-disciplinary teams would include staff 
from educational psychology service, youth service and education welfare. All schools have a 
linked educational psychologist and the locality approach should provide an additional layer of 
support. Essentially though the service is on consultative basis – direct work can be provided but 
is costly compared to other providers. 

 
 R10 The Council update the Panel regarding the impact of new multi-disciplinary locality 

teams on Children’s emotional well being and mental health services in six months 
 
 

The panel were told by representatives in the voluntary and community sector that  
• young people and young adults, particularly young women were concerned that services 
were not available, that there were often long waiting lists and services were not generally 
available in their communities. For example, specialist counselling such as for sexual abuse or 
rape could have 3-6months waiting time.  
• there was very limited access to free counselling and to counselling for under 18’s and 
there was no therapeutic work in the City.  
• Mental illness is often hidden and can be avoided through prevention work earlier on. 

 

6d. SPECIALIST SERVICES 
 
In-patient care Plymouth Primary Care Trust (PCT) has commissioned an in patient CAMHS 
unit, Plymbridge Unit in partnership with Devon, Torbay and Cornwall PCTs. This is a variable 
contract which depends on uptake. There are 12 bed spaces available for the Peninsula.  
 
Community Specialist Services Plymouth PCT and Plymouth City Council have specific 
funding for CAMHS which has been bought together as an aligned budget since 2005. In 2010 a 
Joint Commissioning and Pooled Funding Agreement was established under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act. Under this agreement the PCT act as the lead commissioner.  
The overall budget in the pooled fund for this service is: 
 

Plymouth PCT £              2,582,000  
 

Plymouth City Council £                731,006 

Total Pooled Fund £              £3,313, 006.00 
 

 

 

  

Page 35



 Page 14 of 16 

This model includes: 
 
a. An Outreach Team: To manage the needs of Children and Young People who are at risk 
to themselves or others. 
b. An enhanced service for Children in Care: Co-located with Children’s Social Care 
c. An enhanced service for those with Severe and Profound Learning Disability: Working with 
Special Schools and the Integrated Disability Team 
d. An Infant Mental Health Team: Working with parents and 0-5 year olds who are presenting 
with mental health need. 
e. A Multi-Disciplinary team: Operating a Single Point of Access to mental health intervention 
for those who do not require an emergency or enhanced response. This also includes enhanced 
provision to the Youth Offending Service. 
 

 All teams except the multi-disciplinary team are delivering the expected volume of service. The 
latest report from the service shows there are 254 children and young people waiting for an 
assessment, with the longest wait being 32 weeks. Over 90 children are waiting longer than the 
contracted 18 week period. 

 
 The contract is monitored on a quarterly basis and capacity issues began to emerge in the 2nd 

quarter 2010/11 – six months into the new contract. The panel received a chronology of 
activities since then that log concerns and on behalf of commissioners in PCT and PCC demand 
improvement action plans. The issue had also been escalated to key partnership and executive 
boards including the Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Board, Plymouth Children and Young 
People’s Trust and the NHS Plymouth Trust Board. 

 
 Between June 2011 and September 2011, feedback from the provider has not included a 

satisfactory improvement plan to improve access. Concerns have been fed back from clinicians 
that the caseload was more complex than anticipated and as a result that clinicians were not able 
to deliver expected turnover in cases. Additional information was received however that 
suggested that vacancy freezes had reduced capacity within the team exacerbating the issues. 

 
 In October 2011, an intervention plan has been developed by the commissioners and 

representatives of the provider to develop an emergency response to the excessive waiting list. 
This was shared with the panel as a confidential document awaiting signoff by PCH Board.  

 
 Representatives of Plymouth Community Healthcare attended and fed back: 
 

• Only one of five teams had a waiting list 
• Clinicians were indicating that the caseload included significant risk cases in their opinion 
and this had led to a backlog. It was felt that by the time cases get to treatment issues are 
complex and that this absorbs team capacity. 
• First priority was to bring the current referral to treatment time back down to 18 weeks. 
It is planned to review the current caseload in a multi-agency panel – identifying whether 
appropriate or alternative services could be put in place to support families including removing 
names from the list. With an understanding of the cases and capacity PCH would be able to 
project how long it will take to reduce down the waiting list.  
• Second priority to review the working model of the multi-disciplinary team to achieve a 
faster throughput of cases on a more sustainable basis – this is expected to be delivered by end 
of  March 2012. 
• PCH asserted that there are not enough staff to respond to the need of the community  
but recognized that the team is not performing within existing expectations. 

Page 36



 Page 15 of 16 

• PCH asserted that the clinician group was autonomous and that their judgement must be 
taken regarding levels of risk and most appropriate package of care 

 
 Members of the panel were concerned that the issues regarding the multi-disciplinary team 

coincided with wider issues around the reorganisation of the provider service into a social 
enterprise model. That organisational context combined with the failure to respond in a timely 
manner escalated the risk of delivering actions that would keep children safe in their 
communities and presented concerns about transparency. The panel was particularly concerned 
about the impact that pressures on the multi-disciplinary team waiting lists would have both for 
individuals and families on the waiting list and on other services for children. 

 
R11 An urgent summit meeting to be arranged between strategic leads from CYPOSP, PCC, 

PCT and PCH regarding the findings of this report 
 
 
 The panel heard from Routeways regarding projects that provided advocacy services for young 

people in the secure unit and participation work “In Other Words” with young people using 
CAMHS to empower young people that access the service to challenge their workers. CAMHS 
staff put forward young people who may benefit from the service and to date only 6 young 
people were working with the service. Young people fed back that they were generally happy 
with the service with some minor complaints. 

 

R12 PCH review the cost effectiveness of participation support services for young people 
using mental health services 

 
Feedback was received from other witnesses that: 
  
• waiting times can be 6 months or more with known cases of 12 months, and up to two 
weeks if high risk  
• referrals via a GP were treated more quickly than referrals from school.  
• Once in the system there needs to be greater transparency for cases and better 
engagement between multi-disciplinary team clinicians and other professionals – for example 
clinicians making recommendations that don’t fit with a school structure and not investigating 
other factors including bullying. 
• Schools are not necessarily made aware if children are medicated and sometimes there can 
be delay between work with children and the report reaching schools. 
• CAMHS workers experiencing a crisis in terms of workload etc 
• Individual cases where CAMHS are cancelling appointments over a series of months – so 
child is not engaging in therapy, no replacements if workers are ill or no maternity cover.  
• where children do not attend service is withdrawn – concern that non attendance is not 
seen as a symptom of mental illness as opposed to as a reason for not providing service. 
 
R13 The Children’s Trust investigate and report on ways in which the work of clinicians and 

other children’s professionals can be better coordinated with respect to mental health 
support 

 

Witnesses representing Plymouth City Council and Plymouth Primary Care Trust Cluster 
commented as follows: 

 

Page 37



 Page 16 of 16 

• An action plan had been developed to tackle the waiting list.  

• nationally few people have the expertise to provide the service,  so it is difficult to substitute with 
another service 

• there is a good history of partnership working but the delays are unacceptable. Commissioners 
had to give the provider the opportunity to understand the problem – prevalence, demand and 
activity.  Commissioners were looking for the provider to create a response, which had not 
been timely or sufficient and the intervention plan was developed to support those families 
affected. 

• there was a need to get the service to work alongside other people across the City if and when 
the service improves sustainably.  

• the ultimate sanction is to find an alternative supplier, however Commissioners were concerned 
that due to the delay in tendering the service this would not ensure that young people on the 
waiting list would be seen any sooner. However, this has not been rejected as an option. 

• PCC has responsibility to act under probity for LA finance, responsibility through the section 75 
agreement and through wider corporate parenting role and the Children and Young People’s 
Trust. Under the s75 agreement, if  PCC felt that the agreement was no longer working the 
Council  could issue notice and withdraw cash in line with the agreement. However, other 
elements of the agreement were working well – such as the support to children in care. 

• The issue has been escalated to the Plymouth Safeguarding Children Board and the Children and 
Young People’s Trust who are holding this as an urgent issue to resolve.  The Children’s Trust 
Executive are clear that this action plan is an intervention plan and are clear in their challenge to 
the provider. The solutions that are provided are put forward to consider and safeguard the 
whole needs of children and families – the delays are putting pressure on other areas of 
children’s lives including education. The timing of scrutiny review coincides with the actions that 
are being taken to escalate and resolve the issues. 

 

R14 The Childrens Trust establishes a clear and transparent process for the identification, 
monitoring and escalation of issues such as those identified in this report.  

R15 Commissioners from the Children’s Trust provide interim updates to CYPOSP on the 
response to these recommendations. 

 
  

  

 
 
 

Page 38



Page 1 of 9 
17 December 2011 

 

Delivering services 
on behalf of the 

NHS 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
 

Waiting Lists 
 
 
 
 
 

Update Report for Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Page 2 of 9 
17 December 2011 

1. Purpose of the report 
 
1.1 In October 2011 the Child and AMHS Plymouth Multi-disciplinary team (PMDT) 

had a waiting list of 245 children and young people (CYP) with a longest wait 32 
weeks. This is a breach of the required referral to treatment time (RTT) of 18 
weeks. 

 
1.2 A Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel (CYPOSP) was held 

on the 11 and 12 October 2011. One of the recommendations from that panel 
was for a summit meeting to be held between strategic leads from the CYPOSP, 
Plymouth City Council (PCC), NHS Plymouth and Plymouth Community 
Healthcare (PCH). 

 
1.3 The summit meeting took place on the 26 October 2011 and this report is an 

update on progress that was agreed as an outcome of that meeting. 
 
1.4 The report outlines the steps taken towards achieving the RTT of 18 weeks by 

the CAMHS Plymouth Multi-disciplinary team (PMDT) and outlines the plans 
that will help the team to keep it in place. 

 
1.5 The Plymouth Mainstream Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

(CAMHS) is made up of six teams that provide a discreet service to groups of 
children and young people (CYP) with particular needs. At the CYPOSP on the 
12th October, there was insufficient opportunity to provide detail on the 
performance and strengths of five of those teams. Instead, they have been 
included as part of this report. 

 
1.6 The report also highlights the learning points from this process both inside 

CAMHS as well as its function as part of the wider emotional well-being and 
mental health network. 

 
2. Context of the Service 
 
2.1 The Mainstream CAMHS is provided by Plymouth Community Healthcare   to 

deliver a specialist mental health assessment and intervention service to those 
CYP aged 0-18th birthday (19 in the case of a child in care) who present with 
complex, severe and/or persistent need.   

 
2.1 Since March 2011 the clinical staff members of PMDT have been working with 

senior leadership and commissioners to achieve improvements. Progress was 
judged to be too slow and the CYPOSP placed a requirement upon Plymouth 
Community Healthcare to speed up on improvement. This is monitored by 
commissioners from PCC and NHS Plymouth on a weekly basis. 

 
3. Actions to date (children grouped by need) 
 
3.1 During April 2011 to August 2011 the PMDT completed a piece of work to try 

and understand how the service may better be arranged to meet the needs of 
CYP. The approach was that of clinical systems engineering put simply this 
means that CAMHS needs to understand its children based on their specific 

Page 40



Page 3 of 9 
17 December 2011 

needs and place appropriately skilled staffing the right place to meet that need. 
This is known in the NHS as a ‘demand stream’. 

 
3.2 The CYP waiting fall into three needs groups. Primary Mental Health Work, 

Neurodevelopment and Generic. Work has been carried out to understand 
the numbers of CYP in each needs group and in order to do this, a paper 
review of each referral upon the PMDT waiting list was completed and the 
CYP were placed into groups. 

 
3.3 The group of CYP waiting to see a Primary Mental Health Worker (PMHW) 

was the first to be properly completed. 91 CYP are waiting for an assessment 
with a PMHW and 49 of those are breaching the RTT. The capacity of the 
PMHWs has been mapped against demand and a decision taken to cancel for a 
three month period, all of the multi-agency training that the 4.6 PMHW’s were 
scheduled to deliver. This increases their capacity by 100% and the trajectory 
shows that the PMHW team will achieve RTT by the end of January 2012, as 
illustrated in the trajectory below. It should be noted that should referrals 
exceed the anticipated 22 per month, the capacity to meet demand will not be 
in place and the RTT achievement will be delayed. 

 
 

ACTUALS FORECAST
Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Total Monthly Referrals 11 9 22 22 22 22
Capacity for Monthly Referrals 1 20 47 47 47 58
Adjusted W.List 102 91 66 41 16 0
18 Week Referral Waiting List Limit 216 216 216 216 216 216
Monthly Movement(-ve=decrease) -10 -11 -25 -25 -25 -16 
Referrals over 18 weeks 40 49 24 0 0 0
% over 18 weeks 39% 54% 36% 0% 0% 0%  

 

CAMHS PMHW Trajectory as at 1 Dec 2011

0

50

100

150

200

250

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Month

N
o
. 
P
at
ie
n
ts

Total Monthly Referrals

Capacity for Monthly Referrals

Adjusted W.List

18 Week Referral Waiting List Limit

Referrals over 18 weeks

 
 
3.4 The remaining CYP waiting have now been split into two streams – PMDT 

(Generic) and Neurodevelopmental. Currently there are 72 CYP on the PMDT 
waiting list and 27 of those are breaching 18 weeks. The trajectory for the 
generic patients (currently PMDT) shows that the team will achieve RTT 18 
week target by March 2012. This is illustrated in the trajectory below: 

Page 41



Page 4 of 9 
17 December 2011 

 
ACTUALS FORECAST

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr
Total Monthly Referrals 9 10 9 9 9 9 9
Capacity for Monthly Referrals 39 27 16 16 16 16 16
Adjusted W.List 89 72 65 58 50 43 36
18 Week Referral Waiting List Limit 68 68 68 68 68 68 68
Monthly Movement(-ve=decrease) -30 -17 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 
Referrals over 18 weeks 43 27 20 13 5 0 0
% over 18 weeks 48% 38% 31% 22% 10% 0% 0%  

 

CAMHS PMDT Trajectory as at 1 Dec 2011

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr

Month

N
o
. 
P
at
ie
n
ts

Total Monthly Referrals

Capacity for Monthly Referrals

Adjusted W.List

18 Week Referral Waiting List
Limit

Referrals over 18 weeks

 
 
 
3.5  The total CYP on the Neurodevelopmental waiting list is 56, 20 of which are 

breaching 18 weeks. The trajectory for Neurodevelopment shows that the 
team will achieve RTT 18 week target by March 2012: 

 
ACTUALS FORECAST

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr
Total Monthly Referrals 9 10 9 9 9 9 9
Capacity for Monthly Referrals 0 0 14 14 14 14 14
Adjusted W.List 46 56 51 46 42 37 32
18 Week Referral Waiting List Limit 57 57 57 57 57 57 57
Monthly Movement(-ve=decrease) 9 10 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 
Referrals over 18 weeks 7 20 15 10 6 1 0
% over 18 weeks 15% 36% 30% 22% 13% 2% 0%  
 

Page 42



Page 5 of 9 
17 December 2011 

CAMHS Neuro Devt Trajectory as at 1 Dec 2011

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr

Month

N
o
. 
P
at
ie
n
ts

Total Monthly Referrals

Capacity for Monthly Referrals

Adjusted W.List

18 Week Referral Waiting List Limit

Referrals over 18 weeks

 
 
3.6 This process of robust caseload management has been developed with the 

clinical staff of PMDT and the trajectory produced at the end of November will 
mean that we know how many appointments we need to plot against the 
neurodevelopment and generic needs groups. Staff members have also begun 
to move their practice into the needs groups such that the PMDT will cease to 
exist in January 2012 and work will be delivered within focused pathways based 
upon demand. 

 
3.7 PCH has also reduced the number of clinical and business meetings that the 

team members attend by 50% so that they are able to see more CYP. 
 
3.8 The neurodevelopment pathway is being supported by a commissioner to 

ensure that the multi-agency pathway for CYP within this needs group is 
properly arranged to make sure that CYP stay in the service for the minimum 
time appropriate.. 

 
4. Actions to date (multi-agency review of the CYP waiting for an 

appointment with the PMDT) 
 
4.1 By the end of October 2011 a multi-agency group of senior staff from across 

the city had come together with staff from the CAMH Service to review all of 
the 254 CYP waiting for an appointment with the PMDT. 

 
4.2 The purpose of this was to identify those CYP who could potentially be 

diverted to other appropriate services and receive appropriate intervention at 
an earlier point. It was assumed that should a number of CYP meet this 
category, they would also require the consultation input of a PMHW. Only 8 
CYP were able to be immediately diverted to the Integrated Youth Service or 
Educational Psychology Service and all required a consultation input from a 
PMHW. 

 
4.3 A further 71 CYP could fall into this category but further work is required to 

understand whether this is possible and appropriate. This is largely due to their 

Page 43



Page 6 of 9 
17 December 2011 

length of wait and the duty to check out their present situation. A decision for 
diversion has to be made on current information and not a historical snapshot. 
For some, this will mean completing an assessment or triangular consultation.  

 
4.4 Once an alternative but appropriate response is identified, the commissioning 

team from the Local Authority has pledged support to facilitate a multi-agency 
response that involves any Local Authority commissioned or provided services. 

 
4.5 It is important to note that CYP will only move to a new service if they can see 

them immediately upon transfer. There is no intention to extend their wait by 
transferring them out. 

 
4.6 The 71 CYP currently sit within the PMHW needs group in 3.3 above. Any 

appropriate diversion of CYP to partner agencies will improve this team’s 
ability to achieve the RTT before the scheduled date of early February 2012. 
  

4.7 It must be noted that many of the identified services may also full to capacity 
and have waiting lists.  
 

5. Action to date (a peer review and a multi-agency review of those 
CYP who have been on caseload for in excess of 20 contacts). 
 

5.1 Plymouth Community Healthcare is to commission a review in two parts. 
 

5.2 The first is a peer review of the service with an invitation to comment on the 
move to needs groups and its intended outcome to improve patient experience 
and speed of response, intervention and discharge. 
 

5.3 The second is a multi-agency review, chaired by an external expert, of those 
CYP within a specified group that includes in excess of 20 contacts with the 
service. 
 

5.4 This latter will attempt to answer the question about why the service is 
blocked and is linked to a narrative about the numbers of CYP in the service 
with a complex, severe and/or persistent need that requires long term 
intervention versus an external view that the clinicians are ‘holding on’ to CYP 
that could be stepped down into a multi-agency discharge plan. Evidence exists 
to support neither position at this time and the review seeks to provide that. 

 
5.5 PCH is working to make sure that the staff who will be involved in the review 

feel that it will be helpful and are fully signed up to it. 
 

6. The Wider Mainstream CAMH Service 
 
6.1 The Infant Mental Health Team (IMHT) is based at TamarFOLK Children’s 

Centre and works with infants aged 0-5 and their families. This is an excellent 
example of joint commissioning and provision for early intervention. The staff 
mix is multi-agency in that a Senior Educational Psychologist is based in the 
team. The team is small with only 3.9 clinicians. 

 

Page 44



Page 7 of 9 
17 December 2011 

6.2 The IMHT provides face to face assessment and intervention as well as 
consultation and training to staff working in the Early Years system. 
 

6.3 The IMHT do not breach the RTT, the longest wait being 8 weeks. 
 

6.4 They collaborate with other professionals to deliver early intervention to 
vulnerable groups e.g. working with a Health Visitor to deliver the Healthy 
Child Programme and parenting advice sessions to mothers who attend the 
Racial Equality Council. 
 

6.5 The IMHT deliver ‘Safety in Numbers’ a group intervention for women 
experiencing mild to moderate post natal depression. 82 mothers have 
attended this programme over the past 12 months and clinical outcome 
measures evidence improvements in mood and anxiety that will have an impact 
on mothering and attachment. 
 

6.6 The Children in Care CAMHS Team is funded by PCC and is a small team of 
4.4 clinicians who work with children who are placed in the care of the local 
authority. They are based at Midland House and provide face to face 
assessment and intervention to CYP as well as consultation and training to 
foster carers and social care staff. 
 

6.7 The team do not breach the RTT. The longest wait at this point is 13 weeks.  
 

6.8 The Children in Care CAMHS Team also work with Band 4 Foster Carers (18 
at time of writing) and support their role in caring for complex CYP who 
would be at significant risk of being placed for out of area residential care. 
 

6.9 The team deliver attachment training on the multi agency LSCB programme. 
 

6.10  The CAMHS Outreach Team was generated by closing an adolescent day 
programme and 6 beds and instead developing an outreach model. This enables 
CYP to stay at home and in school. It prevents admission to hospital. 
 

6.11 The team see all of their referrals within 24 hours. These are known as Priority 
1 referrals. They also provide a next working day assessment for CYP 
presenting to Derriford Hospital following an episode of deliberate self harm. 
Due to the issues in the PMDT the team are also picking up Priority 2 referrals; 
those CYP who need to be seen within 7 days of referral. The team carry a 
significant level of risk in a complex group of CYP and most often do this in 
multi-agency packages of care. 
 

6.12  The CAMHS Team for CYP with a Severe and Profound Learning Disability 
(SLD Team) are another small team of 2.2 clinical staff who work 
predominantly with CYP who attend Downham, Mill Ford and Woodlands 
School. The staff have specialist skills in working with families where there is a 
child with a severe learning disability; functional analysis of behaviour is only 
one example. 
 

Page 45



Page 8 of 9 
17 December 2011 

6.13 The team do not breach the RTT and the longest wait is 13 weeks. They 
collaborate as a virtual team within the Children’s Integrated Disability Service. 
 

6.14  Finally, the Children’s Day Programme is a day assessment and intervention 
programme for CYP aged from 5-12 who have a complicated 
neurodevelopmental problem that cannot be helped within a community based 
response. It is delivered with the Alternate Complementary Education Service 
ensuring that mental health and educational assessments and intervention 
programmes are delivered together. 
 

6.15 The team assessed 28 children in a six day assessment programme between 
April and September 2011. 11 of those went into an intervention group and the 
remainder returned to community care. 
 

6.16 What is clear from the above is that when a team is designed around a demand 
stream, the appropriate multi-agency relationships and pathways may be 
developed to support step up and step down and therefore flow. The PMHW 
team did not breach the RTT when they were a discreet team based in 
localities and integrated into multi-agency response. Their withdrawal from that 
to join the staff of the specialist service has resulted in a retraction of the 
collaborative advantage and we now see a clear breach position albeit with a 
clear plan to resolve. 
 

6.17 The intention is that a move to needs groups for all CYP and clinicians will reap 
the same benefit of collaborative advantage. There will of course always be 
CYP who do not fit neatly to a single demand stream and the pathways will be 
sufficiently flexible to accommodate them. 
 

7. Learning Points 
 

7.1 It is clear that during the past six months, the PMDT have been accepting a 
number of referrals of CYP who do not meet the threshold of complex, severe 
and/or persistent need. The internal intake process is being improved throughout 
December 2011. 

 
7.1 To assist the intake decision making process, the new needs groups will move 

to a position where they no longer receive routine referrals that is not 
accompanied from the outset, by consent to share information. This allows 
greater capacity to understand who else may be already involved and allows us 
to commence each piece of work from a principle of collaborative advantage. 
This has already been put in place around referrals from GPs and we need to 
get it right for all other referrals.  

 
7.2 That arranging services around needs groups offers the best opportunity for 

the collaborative advantage in that CYP with specific needs fall often fall into 
natural communities. This is evidenced by some of our existing teams. 

 
7.3 The service will consider the requirement for a standardised referral form and 

work out how this links with the CAF. 
 

Page 46



Page 9 of 9 
17 December 2011 

7.4 Primary Mental Health Workers are best placed to respond to children and 
young people’s emerging health needs within an integrated multi-agency locality 
team, expanding their potential to work with colleagues to prevent escalation 
to requiring input for complex, severe and/or persistent need. 

 
8.0 Summary by Chief Executive 

This update provides an in depth overview of the current waiting list position, 
the action being taken to address those waiting in excess of 18 weeks. There 
are clear monitoring processes in place, including weekly meetings attended by 
Health and Local Authority Commissioners, Clinicians and Managers from 
Plymouth Community Healthcare.  
The Board of Plymouth Community Healthcare places the management of this 
waiting list and the reduction of the over 18 week waiting list as the highest of 
priorities. 
 
Stephen Waite 
Chief Executive 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



   

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
5 January 2012 

 
 

Update from Children and Young People’s Trust 

 

Tackling child poverty 

There have been positive developments in relation to tackling child poverty, including self-
assessment workshops with key stakeholders, including elected members. Common themes that 
emerged include: 

• Child Poverty is today where safeguarding children was five years ago 

• Need for a common understanding of what child poverty is and what our vision is 

• Holistic child poverty data set must be developed to tell the story about child poverty in 
Plymouth and used to inform service planning 

• Need to develop a local basket of child poverty proxy indicators 

The Growth Board has established a worklessness sub group to develop the citywide 
worklessness plan and the child poverty core group is currently seeking representation to clarify 
how worklessness contributes to child poverty and to identify those most affected within the 
action plan. Work is also on-going within the Council to assess the impact of welfare changes 
coming into effect over the next two years. Initial analysis indicates that larger families in particular 
will be significantly affected. Mitigation discussions are currently taking place.  

Finally, the draft Housing Plan 2012-17 is expected to be out for consultation at the end of 
December. Discussions with members of the Child Poverty core group and housing strategy group 
have been ongoing since May 2011. The need to address housing related poverty is a prominent 
feature of the draft plan and the Children’s Trust intends to respond to the consultation to 
reinforce the impact of housing related poverty on families and to endorse close collaboration 
between teams in the future. 

 

Community Budgets 

The Children’s Trust has endorsed the Community Budgets approach for the City. The 
programme aims to design new ways to minimise harm and prevent escalation of complex need, 
thus improving life chances for the whole family. Our submission to bring together public funding 
for a collective greater impact was accepted by DCLG in September 2011. More work is planned 
throughout the coming weeks to clarify the scope, identify governance and specify potential 
funding routes. 

 

Working Together Better for Children and Young People 

Plymouth Community Healthcare are currently developing their framework of services for 
children and young people which is currently at consultation. Children’s Trust Board members 
including headteachers are keen to get involved in shaping future support especially to school aged 
children. 

Version and date  Not protectively marked 
 

Agenda Item 7aPage 49



 

Links with other Plymouth 2020 strategic partnership groups 

The Board has received an overview of the contribution other partnership groups make to the 
Plymouth vision. This presents a number of opportunities to influence other workstreams and 
lever most benefit for city children, young people and families. For example, the Growth Board is 
leading on stimulating the local economy by supporting growth in key sectors – through its child 
poverty and supporting transition streams the Children’s Trust can ensure that young people and 
parents are considered when delivering against the plan. Members of the Board will also be 
approached in the new year to support the city’s growth agenda, for example by supporting local 
suppliers and increasing commissioned spend in the voluntary and community sectors. 

The Children and Young People’s Trust will also be heavily involved in supporting the cross-
cutting theme of reducing alcohol. This is currently being led through the Plymouth2020 Executive 
by the Chair – Andy Bickley. A strategic leaders group is considering the impact that alcohol harm 
has on the city not only in terms of anti-social behaviour but also in terms of harm to children of 
parents with alcohol misuse problems and potential harm to young people of their own misuse.  

 

Reducing children and young people’s attendance and admissions to hospital 

This was identified as an area of concern in the previous Children and Young People’s Plan. 
Substantial progress has been made by a multi-agency working group to identify reasons for 
disproportionately high numbers of children and young people attending hospital. The group has 
gone on to put in place a number of preventative actions including developing breastfeeding 
support, reducing smoking during pregnancy and exposure to second hand smoke, immunisation 
and prevention of gastrointestinal infection. 

More work is being done with families through children’s centres to support first aid skills and 
respond to minor accidents and injuries within the home and community. In addition, plans are at 
an advanced stage to implement a single point of entry for unscheduled paediatric care at 
Derriford Hospital. This would integrate the Emergency Department and Children’s Assessment 
Unit to respond more efficiently to families.  

 

 

 

Claire Oatway 

Policy, Performance and Partnerships Manager, Chief Executives 

16 December 2011 

 

Page 50



 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
5 January 2012 

 
 
PLYMOUTH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
 
REPORT TO MEMBERS OF THE CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
INTRODUCTION: 
 
The aim of this report is to inform members of national and local developments in safeguarding 
within the Plymouth area and the remit of the Plymouth Safeguarding Children Board (PSCB). 
The report will help to identify how the PSCB is working with agencies in the local area to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 
 
CONTENT: 
 
National Developments 
 
In my last report I explained that the Government had published it’s response to the Munro 
Report based on the advice of the Implementation Working Group. The response stressed that 
the changes that are implemented would be evolutionary aimed at long term sustained reform. 
At a national conference of Independent Chairs, which I attended in November, the Under 
Secretary of State, Mr Tim Loughton MP reconfirmed the Government’s commitment to joint 
training in safeguarding and the need to reduce bureaucracy. 
 
He also stated that the current arrangements for Serious Case Reviews will continue for the 
foreseeable future, including full publication and Ofsted evaluations. He stated that the SCIE 
(Social Care Institute for Excellence) systems model of reviews was “not perfect” and needed 
further testing before it could be considered for a prescribed model. 
 
When questioned about the role of inspection in safeguarding, the Minister felt that further 
work was necessary and  what is currently in operation and that proposed is not sufficiently 
‘joined up’ and the whole area was still work in progress. 
 
In a letter to Directors of Children’s Services and Chairs of Local Safeguarding Children Boards, 
dated 14 December, Ofsted referred to the Under-Secretary of State’s response to a 
Parliamentary question on the progress regarding the recommendations of the Munro Report.  
The Minister has decided that Ofsted’s responsibility for evaluating serious case reviews should 
continue for a transitional period, using a more streamlined approach.  With effect from  
3 January 2010, Ofsted will cease making a graded judgement on the reviews and will instead set 
out the findings of their evaluation in an evaluation letter which will focus on how effectively the 
review has identified lessons to be learned and how robust are the action plans associated with 
the review.  These transitional arrangements will end in July 2012.   
 
The Minister also announced that all relevant inspectorates have agreed in principle to  
Professor Munro’s proposed model of joint inspection and that there will be a progress update 
on this situation in March 2012. 
 

Version and date  Not protectively marked 
 

Agenda Item 7bPage 51



 
 
Early in September the Children’s Workforce Development Council (CWDC) announced that 
they were now in a position to offer specific support to help implement recommendations from 
the Munro Review.  £8.5 million has been made available nationally to assist with transition, 
especially in relation to learning and development. It is recommended that 50% of the grant is 
passed to LSCBs. This has happened locally and 50% of the £39000 allocated to Plymouth has 
been transferred to the PSCB Learning and Development budget. The Learning & Development 
Sub Group of the PSCB will be recommending how this funding will be utilised. 
 
The CWDC are also organising a series of training and support events co-hosted by CWDC, 
the College of Social Work and SCIE and intended to support the redesign of services to enable 
earlier intervention and the designation of a Principal Child and Family Social Worker. There are 
also going to be learning and development events for LSCB Chairs. 
 
A Freedom of Information Bill is progressing through Parliament and is due to receive Royal 
Assent in May 2012. This will provide the legal mechanism for changes to vetting and barring 
arrangements and the operation of the Criminal Bureau Records processes. 
 
Local Developments 
 
Safeguarding week took place between 21 to 25 November, with the Annual PSCB Conference 
taking place on the 23 November with the theme of ‘Safeguarding Children who may be 
Particularly Vulnerable’.  Camilla Batmanghelidjh was the keynote speaker. During the 
safeguarding week Barnardos also launched a pilot project for children at risk of sexual 
exploitation in the City, a full time project worker will be based in Plymouth for the next six 
months.  
  
An audit of Statutory Duties and Associated Responsibilities for Schools in Relation to Section 
175/157 of the Education Act 2002 is the subject of an agreement between the PSCB and the 
three Headteacher organisations in the City.  Its purpose is to provide a report to the relevant 
Governing Body in order for them to ensure compliance with their statutory safeguarding duty. 
The audit will also enable the Local Authority to monitor the compliance of maintained schools 
with statutory guidance and provide help, advice and assistance where it is needed. Academies 
and other Independent Schools may also find this support very useful and have been included in 
the audit process. The audit will also enable the PSCB to implement their duties under Section 
11 of the Children Act 2004 to monitor the effectiveness of safeguarding within organisations. 
 
 As part of the 2011 Section 11 Audit process (ie the general duty on organisations to safeguard 
and protect the welfare of children), organisations across the Peninsula have been asked to 
encourage their front line staff and managers to complete an online survey related to 
safeguarding arrangements within their organisation. 
 
The September PSCB and the November Executive Group received updates regarding the 
Alcohol Interventions for parents. A contract has now been awarded to deliver alcohol 
interventions for up to 200 parents per year. The service will focus on families where children 
have a child protection plan or are at risk. The pilot has demonstrated some excellent joint 
assessments with children’s social care. The PSCB will receive regular updates on the progress 
of the scheme. 
 
The PSCB partnership agreement was ratified by the Board in September. 
 
I met with the Plymouth Children’s Trust Board (CTB) to highlight the concern at the loss of 
the Young Witness Support Scheme previously operated by the NSPCC, with financial 
contributions from all four LSCB’s across Devon and Cornwall.  The CTB has been asked to 
consider the viability of commissioning a similar Plymouth service in the future. A member of 

Page 52



the CTB is currently leading a task and finish group to develop a proposal for consideration and 
I understand that initial discussions with the Police Witness Protection Service and their 
potential involvement in a new slimmed down service are underway. 
 
Professor Eileen Munro has responded to an enquiry from the PSCB around the future of the 
Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) process but unfortunately has reported that her national 
review of safeguarding did not include an analysis around the effectiveness of these 
arrangements. During 2012/13 the Peninsula LSCB’s (ie Cornwall & Isles of Scilly, Devon, 
Plymouth and Torbay) will review local arrangements for delivering the most cost effective 
CDOP process in the future. In previous years the CDOP has been hosted by NHS Plymouth 
on behalf of the Peninsula LSCB’s through an agreed jointly funded contract. Hosting 
arrangements were transferred to the Plymouth Community Healthcare CiC (new health 
provider services) mid year and they have been offered a one year extension to the contract 
commencing 1st April 2012, whilst the future delivery of the service is being considered. A 
decision on whether the Plymouth Community Healthcare CiC will accept the contract to host 
the CDOP in 2012/13 is awaited. 
 
It would appear that work to develop the Plymouth Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub has stalled 
due to resourcing difficulties within partner agencies.  CTB members have been asked to 
encourage partner agencies in the Police and Health to identify sufficient resources to ensure 
that this important initiative is progressed.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The PSCB continues to ensure that agencies work well together within the city in order to 
safeguard and protect the welfare of children and young people. Participation in Full Board and 
Sub Group meetings/work programmes continues to foster effective multi agency working, the 
sharing of best practice and a joined up approach to resolving issues of concern. This is 
especially important at a time of widespread major organisational change within almost every 
partner agency represented at the PSCB and at a time when financial constraints continue to be 
a challenge to all partners. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that members note the content of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jim Gould 
Independent Chair of the Plymouth Safeguarding Children Board 
19 December 2011 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
S:\Lifelong Learning\WPO\Lifelong Learning Branches\Strategic Support\White, Simon (New SEO Role)\Committee Reports\Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

PSCB 050112.doc 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



� �

�
���������	�
�����

� �
�������� ���������	�
���
����	�
������
��	�����
������


���������
�������


������������ � � �������

�����
 
 
 
 ��
��������
����


��������
������� ����	����
��� ��
���
����	����
�	!���"


�
��
������� � � �#$


�������� %���
����&� '
(���
��
����	�


� ����	!
(�����'
���	 
���
���������	�
)��	��


��������
 
 
 
 $��*

��+��
,�-.-�


 
 
 
 �/���*
����0����&� 1�� ����&0���0�!


����	!0&�����1�� ����&0���0�!


����
 
 
 
 ��2�3�����


 �!�����"����� � � ��


�����
 4





�
#$�����%�������!��
� �
$&"
������
"
�&�
"�	���
��������
������
���
����2��
���
������"
�&�
���������	�
���

����	�
��������
��"���
��
�&�
����	�
�"
��
�&�
���
��
5��������
����0




$&�
����� 
�����"�
��
�&"
������
"
��
�����
&��
�&�
����	�
"
��������
����"�
�"
!� 

��	����"
�
����"
��
���������	�'
���
�"
����	��
���"���"
�"��
�"
	�����
���
�������

��"���	�"0
4�
"
���������� 
"������	
�
��	�""��
��
!� 
����"
��
���������	�'
�6��������'
���

�"!'
���
�	����"
�����
��	&
%�����������
��"��""
"�	���
�
�����	��
"	���	���
�������
!� 

""��"0




������������"�����!�


���������	�
��	����"
�"��
�
�&"
������
�����"���
�� ����&
�� 
����	�7"
	���������
��

��������
�&�
	� ���
������"
��
8����&'
9"������'
4��:�����"
���
;����
���
��������"0




$&�
�������
���������	�
��"���'
�"
���
�&�
������"
:������'
	������"
��
&���
��
&�&� 

	��	��
""��"0
4�
��	�'
�
"&����
��
�����
�&��
-�<
��
���
���������	�
��	����"
��������
�

 ���
���
��
���	!'
��&
�
����&��
,�<
3�"�
���
���	!0
$&�������'
��"���
�&�
���	���
	�	��"���	�"

��
���
	������� 
��	��'
��
	��
������
+=<
��
���
���������	�
��	����"
���
�&���
��
�&���

�����
��
������0




>6�����"
��
��"���
���	���"
�	����*




•� $&�
9���	�7"
���
?����
5���"
�����
&�"
����
���	��� 
&����
�
&���
"�		�""0




•� 
%��� ��
$���"���"
��
����
	������"
��
�������
"������ 




•� @������
%"���� 
���
#�����
(����&
������"
���
�������


Agenda Item 8Page 55



� �






•� �������
���
%���"�	
����
	����	���
���%��
"
�����
������




•� ����	�
$�6
	����	���
����"
�����
"�����
��
�-0�-<




•� >�"����
�������
�&�"�
�
"
"	&������
��
	�������
�"�
��������





9���"
��:����
	��"�
"	���� 
���*




•� 5����"
�	:�"���
	���
"
�
	��	���'
���&���&
��
	������
��
�������
����
�&��


	�������
��
"����
	��"
�
���
���� 
�����0




•� $&���
���
�	���"��
������"
��
�=
/�A
 ���
���
 ����
������
�&�
���
���
�
>��	����'

>���� ����
��
$�����
��>>$�0




•� ������"
��
	&�����
�
�&�
��"������
���
4����������
5�	���
��"���
����
���
	������� 

���
������
�&�
����2��
������"0





•� $&�
	��������
�������
���
��
���	�""
���
(��"��
���
����	�
$�6
������
	���"
"

	������� 
�A0.
�� "
����"�
��
������
������
��
��
�� "0
���������	�
&�"
"��&�� 
�������

"�	�
�&�
��"�
:������
�&��
�
"����
��
�.0+
�� "0






9"
"�����
�
�&�
��"�
:������
������'
�&�
���������	�
��
�&�
���&��� 
	�����
��
�����
�

"������
����
�&��
"
&�������
��
�&�
������
�	���� '
���
�&�
!��	!/��
����	�
��
�&�
��	��

�� ����&
�	���� 0
���"����
	������	�
�����"
��
�"
����"�
���
�&�
��"�
���
 ���"B
�&�
CD

�	���� 
"
���������
��
�&�
"�		�""
��
�"
>�������
������
�������"B
��	&
���
������"
��

�&�
"�		�""
��
�&�
���������
�����
��
� 
>�������
@�����"
��
���
���
�����
�������

�	�����"
���
�������
�&�
������
��
�&�
>���0

)��
�������
���
�����"
���	�
��
�&�

	������
�	����	
""��"
	����
"��
�
����&��
�	���"�
�
�&�
������
��
������
	���"0
����&��

"����"
��
��	��
��"��""�"
	����
��"�
��"���
�
���""���
��
����
�� ����"
��&
��
���	�
��
���

�	���
	����	���
����"0




��������"�����!�&���%�����


$&�
 ����	�
 "
 ����	�"���
 �
 �������
 ����"����
 ��
  ���
 ���
 ��
 E�0�=.�
 �������"
 ������

E�0�.-��
����"�
�
���
�������
������
��
E��A0�,+�
��0,<�0



$&�
 ���
 �������"
 ������
 ��
 ������� 
 5���	�"'
 ����	�"���
 ��
 ����
 "����
 ��
 E�0+���'

���&���&
�&"
&�"
�������
� 
E�0��A�
�
�&�
�&���
����&"
����
F���
����'
���
�����"���"
�0+<

��
 �&�
 E��A0+�
 ������0
 
 $&"
 �����	�"
 �	���"�"
 �
 "��������
 ����
 ��	!���"
 �	��""
 �&�
9����

5�	��
 ����
 "���	�'
 ��&
 "���
 	�������
 &����&	���
 ������
 	�"�"
 ��	����
 �&�
 ����	�

��"���"��� 
�
�&�
@������
%"���� 
5���	�0
$&�
"���	�
	������"
��
��	�"
��
"	����"��
���

"����
 ���
 �������
 ����
 �6���"��
 ��	!���"
 ��
 	���'
 �
 ����	����
 ��������
 �&�
 @������

%"���� 
5���	�0

������""
"
"	����"��
���
	&��������
�&����&
�&�
95�
���������
�����0




9��
��&��
����������"
��"�
"&��
��
����������
�
�&��
	�"�"
����
�&�
�&���
����&
�����0



8���
������""
&�"
����
����
����"�
�&�
E��0+-��
�������
������ 
����"
"��
���
����2��0

?&���
�&���
&�"
����
"������
�
������������'
%��	���"
&���
�����&�
�������
��&��
�	���"

��
	�����"���0
$&���
���"
&������
�����
�"!
��������
�&�
"	���
��
	&����
�&��
��
���

����������
�	��""
�&�
	���	�0
�98
�����
������ 
����"
���
�������
��&�
�&�
������0






Page 56



� �







%����
�&�
��"�
�&���
����&"'
�#$
&�"
�������!��
�
����
�����
��
���
����	�
��"����"B
���!��

�����	�B
��"����"B
���
����"��"0
9"
�
��"���'
�&"
������
�	����"
�
��	����������
��
����"���

"���
"����'
��/�"��
�����	�"
���
�&�
�������
G���"�/��/"���H
��"����
�&	&
��"
	������
��"�

 ���0
$&���
"
�
����&��
��	����������
��
����	���
�&"
�	���"��
��"����
��
4�$
���"�����

���
����
�����"0




��������"�����!�&���'���(



��������
��������
��
����
����	�
�
)	�����
����'
�&�
������
���������
���
�&�
 ���
��"

�	���"��
�&����&
��������
���
�6��������
��
E,0�-+�0
���3�	�"
�	�����
�&�
���	&�"�
��

�� ����&
9�� ��
��������
8�����
���
E�0=A��B
������"&����
��
9�����
?� 
$����"
���

E�0����B
5	&���
���3�	�"
���
E�0�==�0
(������'
��&
����&��
"	&���"
���
��/�������
����

��	��������
��
�&�
��6�
����
����	�'
�&�
���3�	���
������
5����
���
����2��
����	�"
��
�

�����"��
EA�0=+.�0
$&�
���
�������
�����	�"
�������
�������
��
����	�"�
�6��������
��
�&�

���
9	���� 
���3�	�"'
�&	&
����
����� 
�""����
��
��
��������
�����
����2��0



$&����&
�&"
������'
��
���
"��!��
��������
��
�����
�&�
����"
&���
�
�&�
������
��	���

��"����
���
�&�
�������
	�����
��	���"
���������0
$&"
���
�����
��������'
������ 
��������'

	�����
"	&���"
��
��
������
����
	�����
��	���"
���&��
�&��
��"��������
��������'
�&	&

���
������
���""���
��
�������
������0













���'�������(���)*++&)*+,�� � �
�
$&"
:������� 
������
"
������������ 
��!��
��
��������
�&�
������"
��&�
����	�7"

	��������
����0

9���	����
�����
��"���	�"
��
!� 
������"
���
��6�"�
�&�
������"
��
�&�

��"����"
��
�� ����&












�
��'(�������"�����
�-�����������������(��(�����-���"��������'(�������"������
���(�-��.��������/������/������-
(��-�
�
����"�
���
�		�����
����	��
��������
�������"
�&�
����	�7"
#����
$���
����	��
����0

$&�
����	�7"
#����
$���
����	��
����	�"�
"
�������
�������� 
��"��
��
��/����

��������
���������0

�


�
��������'(�������"���0.0���������!�����!/����(�����-�����!/���"1�
���.������
��-�#2��(��!/���%��"��!���-���������!�����"�����


$&�
����	��
�������
���
	�����
��"���	�"
�	��""
�&�
����	
"�	���
&�"
����
�������
�"
�
!� 

�"!
��&�
���
5������	
�"!
���"���0
>:���� 
4���	�
9""�""����"
&���
����
�������!��
��
�&�


������ 
����"
�&��
�������
�&�
����
��
������0




�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 57



� �

�
�
�
��������-�����"�3����"��"�������������-�-���������


$&��
������*/




�0� 9������
�&�
�������"
��
	�����
"����
���
��/�������
�"
�������
�
$����
�





�0� ������
 ��	������
 ��
 ����
 ����	�
 �&�
 ���
 	�����
 "	&���"
 ���
 ���"�����
 �"

�������
 �
$����
=
 ��������
 ��
E�0��A�
��������
 	�����
 "����
 ���
����2��
 ���

E�0+.�
���
������
 ���"


� �
,0� 9������
�&�
	��"�������
��
�&�
������
��	���
��"����
�����	�
��
E�.0��=�
���


�&�
�������
	�����
��	���"
���������0




-0� 9������
�&�
������
�������"
�"
�������
�
$����
A
��
�&�
������



�0� 9������
�&�
	��"�������
��
����:����
��"����"'
�����
E�0-=��
���
�&�
4���"�/��/

5���
��"����0




=0� ��	������
��
����
����	�
�&��
�&�
���"��
�������
4���"�/��/5���
��"����
��

����	����
E�0,�
��
�&�
����"��
��
��
4�$
%���
������
��
?��"��B
E�0,�
��
����

�����"
�
�&�
	� '





�
�(�������%���'����"����"�-���-���-����"��"�������������-�-���������


9	���"
���
��	��������
�
��"���"�
��
"��	�	
�����	�"
�
��&��
���������	�
���
2
��

����	�"
�������
�&����&���
�&�
������0




4��1.����-�'�'��"��
�

•� 5�"�������
������� 
5������ 

•� ����
�� ����&
�� 
����	�
���������
����

•� ����2��
������
5�����
�����"
����"&��
�
%�	�����
����

•� F���
���������	�
���
����	�
������
I
9���"�
����







�.���������



��
 #����

�0��=

@��
 $(���.
 (�
 #8
 ����


����


 4$
 
 5����


���	




)�������
5#$
#�����
#
���


Page 58



� �

�
�

#����9���&�#:#����;#��

�����#����
�9�#�
�

������������
���.�����������.�����"�
�

�0�

 $&�
���������	�
��	����"
�"��
�
�&"
������
�����"���
�� ����&
�� 
����	�7"

	���������
��
��������
�&�
	� ���
������"
��
8����&'
9"������'
4��:�����"
���

;����
���
��������"0
$&�
��	����"
���
��������
����
,
�����"
���
���
������
�"

������"B


	�%�(�+
/
"��
"����
��"!��
��
"������	
��	����"
�&��
���	!
������""
������"
�	&����

�� ����&7"
����
����
�"��0
$�����"
���
"��
���
�&�
��6�
���
 ���"0
��������	
������	����	
����������	
�
	�%�(�)�&�����
&�&
�����
���	���
��	����"
�&��
"������
������ 
��
@����
�0
4�
��� 

	�"�"
�&�
��	����"
����
��
��
��������
�
�������"&�0
$�����"
���
"��
��
�
,
 ���

������
��""0
	�����������������	�������	�	�����	��	�������	�	������	������			


	�%�(�8��&�����
"����
����	 
��	����"
�&��
��&��
"������
@����"
�
���
�
��
���
��"��""

	��	��
��
�&�
�����"����0
$�����"
���
"��
��
�
,
 ���
������
��""0���������	<
������	
���	 ���� 	�������	���� ��� ����	���������	!����	"����������	����������	
	



�0�


 9
���������	�
"����� 
"
�������
���
����������"
�
�
"	���	���
������
�����
��&

������
�����	�"0
$&�
��������
��&�
�&�
"	���	���
������"
�
&�&
�����
�������
��&

�
��	�"
��
�6������
	����	���
�	���
�&���
��:����0
$&�
"	���	���"
�"�
�
�98
����'

�����'
������
�����	
��&�
" "���
��
��	���
	������
���������	�0
$&���
���
�"���	�"

�&���
��	����"'
��"����"
���
������"
���
"���
����
����L��B
�&�"�
���
	�������
�&��0

8�� 
��	���"
�&��
�&�
%��	������
���"
���
������
��	����"
��
�&"
�����0
>6��������

��
�&�
"	���	���
����"
���
�������
�����0


		


���������	�
�������	�����

 �<
/
�0A<
����"����
2
�<
/
�0A<
�����
"����

 
 �0A<
/
�0..<
����"����
2
�0A<
/


�0..<
�����
"����


 �<
��
����
����"����
6��<
��
����
�����
"����
 
 




��<������.�1�!�&
��"���"�5�����%���.������((����"���"������"���=��������'�������"�

 4��	����"
���
��
���	!

 
 )������
�����
"
��
��
��<
���
������





)������
�����
"
����
�&��
��<
���
������




 ��
����
��������0
��"����
����
���

������"
���
 ��
��
��
������




 

��
��	����"
"��
���
�&"
"���	�







 


�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 59



� �

�
�

�
)�-�2�������'��������������-(���"�



�0,


 5���
��
�&�
!� 
����"
��"��
�
�&�
"	���	���
��������
���*



�

��������!���%���"��
�0-


 5����"
�	:�"���
	���
�����"
�
	��	���0
9�
�&�
���
��
5��������
����
��
&���


��	�����
��
�	���"�
��
�.<
��,+
����
	���"�
	�������
��
�&�
"���
�����
�&�
 ���

������B
�&"
����"
��
���
	������� 
�""��
�&�
������
��
����	�
	���
�����"0
%�"���

�&"
	��	�����
���������	�
��
	������
��
�������
����
�&��
	�������
��
"����

	��"
�
���
���� 
�����0




�0�
 %��� ��
$���"���"
��
����
	������
��
�������
"������ 0
9����"
��&
#�����
(����&


�������"'
5��������
��
@��
4����������� 
"
�����
������0
���&
@������
%"���� 
���

#�����
(����&
������"
���
�������
���
�&"
"
�6��	���
��
	������
�"
�
"
���������

��
�����
�	��� 
�&	&
���
�	���"�
�
�&�
������
����
��
�&�
 ���0





�0=


 5���/%��	���
5������2%��	�
�� ����"
���
"��&�� 
�����
������
�
5��������0

(������

�&�
������������
��
�&�"�
,
��
�&�
������"�
�������
��	�""�����
	��"�������
J���

���7
����
�����
���
����"
���
�����
��
���	���
"����
�����
9���"�
�&	&
���
&���

���	���
��
���������	�0

���������	�
���
��
!���
�����
	��"�
�����
��
���"�

����&��
"������0


�

���(-���>"���%���"��
�0+


 ������"
��
	&�����
�
�&�
��"������
���
4����������
5�	���
��"���
����
���


	������� 
���
������
�&�
����2��
������"0

$&�
��������
����	��
���""���
�&"

���"���"
"
����
��"��
� 
�����/"����
�
�/&��"�
���	�����"
���
�&�
����	���
��

�������
	�"�
���
�&�"�
���	�����
� ��"
�&����&
	��������
	���""����0





�0A


 ��������
�
"���
"����
��
�&�
 ���
�������
������"
��
J������
9""�""����"7
���
���


����
�������!��
���
�"
@�	��� 
���!��
�������"
�&�
 ���/���
������
"
�6��	���
��

��
�	&����0



 


�0.
 $&���
���
�	���"��
������"
��
�=
/�A
 ���
���
 ����
������
�&�
���
���
�

>��	����'
>���� ����
��
������
��>>$�0

$&����&
�6���"��
��"���	&
�
�������

�����"������
��
�"!
��	���"
�&��
��!�
�������"
����
����������
��
����
�>>$
&�"

����
�����0
$&"
���
�����
�&�
"��	�	����
��
�&�
������
5���&
?�"�
	�����	�
���

����/�,0






���'�������''�����
�
�0��
 �������
���
%���"�	
����"
���%��
	����	���
"
�����
������
��
�&�
���
��


5��������'
"������
��
=�0A�<
����"�
�&�
�/ ���
������
��
=�0=�<0



�0��
 ����	�
$�6
	����	���
������� 
�""��
�&�
�/ ���
������
�����
�&"
�����'
��	�����


�-0�-<
����"�
�
������
��
�-0�A<



�

�0��
 5	!��""
��"��	�"
	������
��&
�
��������
�����
������"
�&�
����	�7"
������
��
=

�� "
���
�$>0

���
���	�"
���
���	�����"'
�"
����
�"
�
��	�"
��
����� ��
&����&
���

&����
�&�
��"���
���	�0






�0�,� $&�
	��������
�������
���
��
���	�""
���
(��"��
���
����	�
$�6
������
	���"
"


 	������� 
�A0.
�� "
����"�
��
������
������
��
��
�� "0
���������	�
&�"
"��&�� 
�������


 "�	�
�&�
��"�
:������
�&��
�
"����
��
�.0+
�� "0






Page 60



� �








 $&�
���
"���	����
�
�&�
�������
���
������"
����������
��!�"
����	�
����
�

 ��������B
�&"
���
&���
�
	����
��	�"
��
�����
"���	�
����������0




��%�(�'�������-���.�����������


�0�-
 $&�
9���	�7"
���
?����
"���"
�����
&�"
����
���	��� 
&����
�
&���
"�		�""'
��&
��


�"������
���'���
�"���"
�&����&
�&�
"����
�� "
��
��	��0
$&���
����
����
������

&�"
��
�&�
M��$���
"��
	������
�&�
��	��
����
�&�
	� 
"&����
�&�
����������
���

(��
�
�&�
��"�
"��	��	����
����������
��""���0




�0��
 $&�
��"�
�&�"�
��
�&�
>�"����
�������
����"����
����������
"	&���
"
"	&������
��


��
	��������
��
�"�
��������0
$&�
	&����"
���
"���	���� 
	��
	����"���
���
������

�����	
����
�
�&�
>�"�
>��0
$&"
���
��!�
��
��������
	���������
��
��"��

�		�""��� 
�	��""
�&�
	� 0





�0�=
 $&�
��"�
�����
��
�� ����&7"
>	����	
�����
"&��"
�&��
����
�&�
����
����'
�&�

 


	� 7"
�	����	
���������	�
&�"
������
��
����
��&��
�&�
�������
�������'
���
�&���

����
"��"
��
����������
�
�&�
 ���"
������
��
��
�&�
��	�""��
��
���A2.0




������#$�����%��
�

�0�+
 9
�����
��
����	
	��"�������
"
����
�������
���
�&�
����	�7"
������
����"
����2�,0

J������"
)��
�����"7
���
���
�������
���&
)	�����
���
+�&
��������0�

Page 61



� �

�
�

#����9�4�&�#:#����;#��

����5���9�9�#�
�

80
 <�����(����-���%�����4�-.����



,0�
 ����	�
��������
�
���
�������
������
��
E��A0�,+�
���
����2��
��
 �"
������
��
�A

������� 
 ����0
9�
 �&�
 ���
 ��
 F���
 ����'
 �
 �������
 ����"����
 ��
 E�0�.-�
 ��0=<�
��"

����	�"�0
 9�
 �&�
 ���
 ��
 5��������
 ����'
 �&"
 ����	�"�
 ����"����
 &�"
 ���
 ����	��
 ��

E�0�=.�
��0,<�0
$����
�
�����
"&��"
�&�
����	�"�
 ���
���
��"���
�	��""
����������"0






 ���(��+&�#�-����!������%�����������"�"�
�

���#������#

������(�

�''��%�-�

4�-.�����������

����?++

	���"��

�''��%�-�

4�-.��

	���"��

������"��

�������


��������.�

;����������������

@����)*++


��������.�

;����������

�'��)*++


�%������

���7������

A*** A*** A*** A*** A*** A***

����	��#9��9��

���9<��#��	#
,B/8C8������������ ,B/)8D������������� ,B/*E*�������������

FDDG F+DDG F+**G &*08H

���

�9����#�;��# +*B/+C*���������� +*C/E+*����������� +*B/,DI�����������
BE8 EII F)+CG *0EH

��#;#	��
#9��3�

�#<#9#�����9
+E/*E8������������ +E/BCC������������� +C/*IE�������������

+EE DB F+*CG *0,H

���������#������� )E/,**������������ )E/C+,������������� )E/C88�������������
)+* +B F+B+G *0+H

���#��#:#����;#� +/I*C�������������� )/,B)��������������� )/8C,��������������� * F+*CG F+*CG &,0IH

��������#���#
 8/DB8�������������� +/BBE��������������� +/BBE��������������� * * * *0*H

<#9��	���9��

4��<#�
)*C/)8E���������� )*C/)8E����������� )*C/C*D����������� +/)B,��������������� IDB FE)IG

*08H �
�
,0�

 ����&��
�����"
��
�&�
�������"
���
�������
�
�&�
�������
%��	���"
������"
�
5�	���


%
��
�&"
������0
$&�
����
"���	���
�������"
���
"�����"��
�����*




,0�0�
 �&�����
K
M����
������*


 $&���
���
��
��3��
�����"�
�����	�"
����	�"���
��
�&"
"����0
$&�
����	�"�
�����"����
"


�
��"���
��
���� 
������������
��
������
 ���
������ 
����"
�
@��@���
@������0



,0�0�
 ������� 
5���	�"*



9����
5�	��
����
"
����	�"���
��
����
"����
��
E�0+���
��&
��/����
���""���"
��&�

�������
�"�����"
���
�����
������"
������
&����&0
?�
&���
"���
�	���"�"
�
"��������

����
��	!���"
�	��""
�&�
"���	�
��&
"���
	�������
&����&	���
������
	�"�"
��	����

�&�
����	�
��"���"��� 
�
�&�
@������
%"���� 
5���	�0
$&�
"���	�
	������"
��

��	�"
��
"	����"��
���
"����
���
�������
����
�6���"��
��	!���"
��
	���'
�

����	����
��������
�&�
@������
%"���� 
5���	�0














Page 62



� �








,0�0,
 %����������*�

$&���
"
��
�	���
"&�������
�
�	����	
�����������
���
��
�	���"��
���"
���

����	��
	�����	��
����
��!��
��
�&�
	������
�	����	
	�����0
E�0�+��
��
�&�
	�"�
��

�&�
9���	�7"
���
�����
�������
� 
>	����	
%����������
���
��
���
����
�&�

����2�,
@�"���
������B
�&�������
�&�
%���������
"
�6��	���
��
����"����
� 
�&"

������
�
����2��0
$&�
��3��
����������
�
�&�
:������
"
�&�
���3�	���
E�0����

"����
����"�
�&�
?�"��
#���������
���3�	�0




,0�0-
 ���������
5������*�
$&���
&���
����
���� "
�
����������
�&�
"����
��"���	����
��&�
%���	��	 
���

8�������	�
5���	�"0

(������
�&�
��"������
����
"����
&�"
����
���"��
� 
��&��

"����"0
��"���	����"
�	��""
�������"
���
������"'
��"�����
5���	�"
���
	&����"
�

����	�
#���������
&���
��"�����
�
%����� 
����
������"
����
�6	�����
���
����2��0





,0,
 ��(�%��!��(����'-���

�

4�
"�����
�&�
������
���
����2��'
������������
������ 
����"
��������
E��0+-��
����

������
�
�����
��
�	&���
�
�����	��
������0
)������'
"���	���
������""
&�"
����
����

�	��""
�&�
��3��� 
��
�&�"�
����"0
$&�
���
2
9����
2
8����
��98�
�����
������
�
�&"

������
&���
����
����"�� 
	&��������

4������� '
�&����&���
�&�
 ���'
������
%����� 
����"
���
	&����
���
��
	&����"
�

	�	��"���	�"0
5���
���
�����	&���
�&����"
��&��"
���
���
��������
�&�
"����"
������

���	�����0
?&���
"�	&
�������"
�		��'
����� 
�
"
�&�
��"���"��� 
��
�&�
"���"����

����������
��
�������
���
��������
����������
������
������ 
����"
���
�	���"0

#�3��
�������"
��
������ 
����"
���
��
��������
��&�
�������
������������
"�	���"0



)�� 
�&���
�&���
"
��
�������
�������
�	���
��
�����""
�
���
���������
������ 

����
���
�
����	�"���
����"����
��
��������0
(������'
����"����"
	��
��"�
�		��
�
�&�

�����
��
������"���
������
���""���"
"�	&
�"
�
"���	���
�	���"�
�
"���	�
������
��

��""
��
�	���
"�����0
5����� '
�����"����"
���
�������
�&���
J����7
������ 
��
����"

&���
����
�	&����'
���
����	�"����'
"�����"
�	���
�	&����
��
�
����	���
�
"���	�

������
�������0



$����
�
�����
"�����"�"
�&�
������""
����"�
�&�
����"&��'
�%�	�����
�����'
�������

������
������ 
����"
� 
����������0




���(��)�5���(�%��!��(��������!��
�

���#������#
����(���(�%��!�

�(��"
��- ����� <����

����	��#9��9�����9<��#��	# ,'A.�



















 =�



















 �',=�















 �'-+�
















���

�9����#�;��# -'=A=



















 A,�

















 A��

















 ,'�-=
















��#;#	��
#9��3��#<#9#�����9 +.�






















 ���

















 ,��

















 �-�



















���������#������� �',+=



















 ���

















 �'��=















 �'+,�
















���#��#:#����;#� -��






















 ���

















 ,��

















 /




















��������#���#
 =��






















 �.�

















 /


















 ,��



















����(���(�%��!��(��" +I/E,)������������������ +/DII��������������� I/)BD��������������� C/EB+���������������

H�����(���(�%��!��(��" +**0*H +*0IH 880EH II0CH �
�





Page 63



� �





)������'
������""
����"�
�&"
	&��������
������
"
��	�������'
��&
3�"�
�����
.�<
��

����"
�����
�"
8����
��
9����
"����"0
9
�������
����!����'
� 
����������
	��
��
"���

��
�''��-�$��0�


?�
��"�
	������
��
���!
��
�	&����
���
��
�&�
������ 
����"
���
�&�
	������
 ���'
���

��� 
��
�	&���
���
������
���
�&�
 ���'
���
��"�
��	��"�
�&�
��3��� 
��
�&�
	������

����"
����
�������
���
�������
�&�
������"
���
�&�
	����
���
 ���"0



�#$
���
&�����
������
�&�������
5�""��"
� 
%��	������
��
�����
	������
���
������

����"0
������
#�����"
��"�
��"�
	������
��
	&�������
���
%��	���"0




,� ������������!��
�
-0�
 9"
������"
��������'
	�������
��
������
�	���
	����	���
����"
�����"
�
	&�������


��&�
�&�
	������
�	����	
����������0
?&����"
"���	���
������""
&�"
����
����
�

�������
�&�
�/
 ���
����	�
$�6
	����	���
������
���
5���� 
%�����"
������
�
��	���

 ���"'
"�	&
����������
��	���"
����
���	���
��
"�"���
��	&
 ���0
(������'
��

�����
������"
���
	��"����� 
�����
����������'
����
����	���
�� "
��
3����
��
���

	����	���
�	���
����
��
�&�
����	�0




-0�

 ������""
����
����"�
����2��
�	���
	����	���
������"
�"
��
,�
5��������
����
"


"&���
�
�����
,
�����*

�

���(��8�5����������((�������'�����������
�

�!'�����
-����

�
�

4�-.���-�
�������
)*++6+)�

��������-����
���.���H�)*++6+)�

��������-����
�����(�H�)*++6+)�

�
�

�����%�-�
H�

)*+*6++�

�
�������-�
���.���
�H�

)*++6+)�
����	�

$�6
 E.,�
 �-0,
 �-0�
 


.=0�
 .=0�


��%�
 EA=�
 =�0+
 =�0.
 

.+0,
 .+0�


5���� 

%���
 E=��
 .�0�
 .,0�
 .�0�
 .�0�


	

-0,
 ?�
���
	�������'
����
�&�
	������
���������	�
��
	����	���
����"
���
���&
����	�
$�6

���
��%�
�&��
�&�
 ���/���
������
���
��
�	&����0

(������'
5���� 
%�����

	����	���
����"
���
	������� 
��������� �
�����
�&�
������"
����������
������"
"��
��

.�<0
?�
���
	������
��
�6�����
����������"
���
�	���"��
�&"
	����	���
����
"�	&
�"'

�&������
��""���'
��	�������
���/�� ����
���
����"
���
"���	�"0

















Page 64



� �




I0��� ��'���(����.������


�0�

 4�
�&�
:������� 
������
F���
����'
�&�
����2��
������
���������
"����
��
E���0.+��0


��������
��������
��
���
"	&���"
��
����
����	�
 �
)	�����
����'
�&�
	������
	�����

���������
���
����2��
"
A+*D0)))0





$&"
 �	���"�
 ��
 E,0�-+�
 "
 "&���
 �
 $����
 -0
 $&�
 �����
 ��"�
 "��"
 ���
 �&�
 ��������

"	&���"
��������
���
���
������
#����
$���
����	��
����	�"�
�#$���
�&	&
	����

�&�
�����
��
���-2��0





���(��,�5������"��''��%�-����@�(!�3���������������(�
�����."�

�
A***� A***� A***� A***� �����"��''��%�-����@�(!�3���������������("�
++6+)� +)6+8� +86+,� +,6+I�
�'=A�
 /
 /
 /
 ���	&�"�
��
9�� ��
��������
8�����

���
 /
 /
 /
 ������"&����
��
9�����
?� 
$����"

/
 ,'�-A
 /
 /
 #��
C������
��	���"��
����"���


�==
 �'�,�
 �'���
 =�.
 ?���
�
����� 
5	&���
��"	
����
���3�	�"

���
 �'���
 /
 /
 ��������
5	&���

/
 �=���
 /
 �'���
 5	&���
�������
?��!"


8/),E� ,/EC)� )/I+)� +/D)B� ����(���������"��''��%�-�

�
�0�
 %��
��
����
������
�&�
������ 
��
	�����
"����'
���
�������"
���
��
���3�	�
"������'


	&����"
�
������"'
	�����	���
���������	�'
���� 
��
�	&���
	�����
��	���
��	0
��
���

���
 ��������
 �&�
 ��������
 	&����"
 ��
 �&�
 ����
 ��
 	�����
 "����
 ����
 �&�
 ��6�
 ����

����	��
 ���"*


�


���(��I�5���������-�-�;��������"������'���(�'��-��


A***� A***� A***� A***� ��&'����(��.�6�������;��������"�
++6+)� +)6+8� +86+,� +,6+I�






��A'A.+�







A'-+�







��'-��






/


9	�����"
��/�������

��/�������
��
����	�"�
�6��������
��
9	���� 

���3�	�"0
$&"
���
��
�������
�"
����
�������

���������
��	���"
��������'
��������
��"��
���!

��	






��'����




�'���


/
 /
 �� ����&
@��
������
��/�������

9
 ��������
 ���
 �&�
 ��/����"��
 ��
 	�
 ���
 �����

��	���"
 &�"
 ���
 ����
 ������
 �
 ���
 ��&
 �&�
 )F>C

���	�������
���	�""0






=��




,.�




��'��=�


/
 )�&��
��/�������

�����("�����''��-�$�4�





�,..�




/




/




/


;������"
K
;������"

�����("�����''��-�$�4




F)*/DE+G� +*/CD8� B/,*B� ���*� ����(���&'����(��.�6�������;��������"�




Page 65



� �



�
���

�0,

 $&�
������
%����� 
�����
&�"
��	���� 
	��"�����'
���
�����"��'
�
������
��
��&��

���
	�����
���"�����
���3�	�"
�&��
������
���	���"
����"�
	��������
������"0
$&�"�

"	&���"
���
 ��
 ���"�����
 ���
 ��������
 ��
 �&�
 ��6�
 ����
����	�
������
 �
%�	�����

����0
�

�
���(��D�5�9�=������"�������������-�����������((�������(�F����)*++G�
�



A***� A***� A***� A***� �����"� ��� ��� �''��%�-� ��� ���������

������(�++6+)� +)6+8� +86+,� +,6+I�
/
 �'�+�
 /
 /
 9	�����"
I
��������
������
����
�������
8��7�

+-
 /
 /
 /
 ���"��	�
���
��� 
9���

,�
 
 /
 /
 >�����������
5���� 
?��!"

/
 ��
 /
 /
 5�
������6
#���
C"�
8���"
9���
�#C89�

�-
 /
 /
 /
 ������"��
K
�����
5�
4����������
?��!"

/
 �+-
 /
 /
 $����	
4����������"


�+)C� +/EBI� ���*� ���*� ����(������=������"������''��%�(�����)*++�



�0-
 $&�
 ������
 ���������
 "
 ���� "
 "��3�	�
 ��
 �������"'
 ���
 ��
 �
 ������
 ��
 ��������


��	���"0
 $&�
 ����&��
 ���"��
 ��
 �&�
 ����2��
 ���������
 ���
 ����
 �&�
 ����"�
 !����

��"���
��
EA�0=+.�0







 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 



A��
���.��������((�=��.��''��%�("������((�������(���������)*++� ����������+*D0)))

��/�������
���
��������
��
��������
������
�$����
��
 
 
 

 ���0�+��


;������"
���
��������
��
��������
������
�$����
��
 
 
 
 

��0,..�


���
5	&���"
���
��������
��
%�	�����
����	�
�$����
=�

 
 

 



�0��A

��%�"�-�F	���"��������"�G�� � � � � � ������������CI0DEB��




�

��'���(�#$'��-��������������


�0�

 $�
 ����'
 ��
 &���
 �		����
 �	����
 "����
 ��
 E,-0,���
 �&	&
 �:����"
 ��
 -�0�<
 "����


����"�
 �&�
���"��
�"������
������
"����
��
EA�0=+.0
 
%���������"
���
	�������
 �&��

�&� 
���
��
����
��
������
�&�
��"�
��3��� 
��
�&�
��������
	�����
���������
�
 ���

&������
����&��
���������"
���
��
	��"�����
� 
�&�
������
%����� 
�����'
���
��
��

������
���
��	��������
��
����
����	�'
�"
����������0




�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
� �
�

��������-�����"*




�0� ������
 �������
 �&�
 ��/�������
 ���
 �������"
 ��
 	�����
 "����
 �"
 �������
 �


$����
�0




�0� ������
 ��	������
 ��
 ����
����	�
 �&�
 ���
 	�����
 "	&���"
 ���
 ���"�����
 �"

�������
�
$����
=
��������
��
E�0��A�
��������
	�����
"����
���
����2��
���

E�0+.�
���
������
 ���"


� �

Page 66



� �

�
�
��'���(������'�"�


�0=
 $&���
&�"
����
�6�����
���""���
��
�&�
	���	�7"
���� 
��
��������
	�����
��	���"
����


�&�
 ��"�
 	�����
 ��
  ���"
 ���
 ��
 ������
 ������� 
 ���
 ����
 ��	�"0
 
 $&�
 	������
#����

$���
	�����
���������
�""���"
���������
��
E,-0+�
���
��	���"
��
��'
���
�	�����'

���-2��0





�0+
 $&�
 	���	�
 ��	����
 �
 ���
 	�����
 ��	���
 ��
 E�.0��=�
 ��	�����
 �������
 �����"��
 �


�������
��
�&�
���/���
"���
��
�� ����&
�� ��"
�
���.0

$&"
"
	������� 
&���
"�������� 

�
 �
������
��	���
��"����0
$�
����'
 �&"
 ��	���
&�"
���
����
 ������
 ��
 �&�
 �������

������
��	���"
���������0




�0A
 %����
5��������
����'
�#$'
�"
����
��
�&�
����2�,
������
"�����
���	�""'
��������!


�
 ����
 �����
 ��
 ���
 ��"����
 ���
 ����"��
 �����	�"0
 ?�
 	������� 
 &���
 �&�
 �����	�
 ��

E�.0��=�
�
�
"�������
������
��	���
��"����0
4�
�����
��
����
���
������"
#����

$���
 ������
 ���������
 �
 "
 ��	�""�� 
 ��
 	��"������
 �&"
 ��"����
 �����	�
 ���
 �&�

�������
 ������
 ��	���"
 ���������0
 $&�������'
 ���
 ����"�����	 
 �����"�"'
 ��
 ���

�����"�
��
�	��������
�&"
���
���
��	���
��&�
�&�
�������
���3�	���
	�����
��	���"
��

�&�
����	�0




�0.
 $&"
 �����������
 ���
 �����
 �
 ������
 ��
 ���3�	�"
 �&	&
 ���
 	������� 
 ������
 � 


��"��������
��������
��
��
������
����
	�����
��	���"0
$&"
���
����	�
�&�
 �����
��

��������'
 ����	�
 �&�
 	�"�
 ��
 ��������'
 ���
 �&�������
 ������
 ���""���
 ��
 �������

������0




�0��
 ��������
 �&"
 	��"�������'
 �&�
 	�����
 ��	���"
 ���
 ��������
 ��
 ����
 �&�
 ���������


��98
������
����
�&�
�"��"��
��
����
���
������"
���
�"
������"*




�
��"'�"�(����	��-�6�4��(-��."�

�
����������A��
�

����2��
�2���

 









�

����2��
��	7�
��
%���
 






�0-��

������
��	���
��"����
����"���
 




�.0��=

����2��
>"������
��
��
��	7�
 






�0=A�

����2�,
>"������
��	���"
 






=0=A�

���,2�-
>"������
��	���"
 






-0�=.

���-2��
>"������
��	���"
 






�0���


 

����(� ����8808BI�



�0��
 $&�
����	�
 �"�"
 	�����
 ��	���"
 �"
 ����
 ��
 �"
 ������
 "�����"B
 &������
 �&�
 ����
��


�&��
�&�
	�����
��	���"
���
���
���
�&�
����	�
���"
���
���� "
���	&
��
��&
�&��

��
�"&
 ��
 ���� 
 �&��
 ��
 "	&���"0
 $&"
�"���	&
 ��
 ����
 �������
 	�����
 ��	���"

���������
���
	�����
 ��	���"
 ��:�������
&�"
����
 �������
��
	��""����� 
 �
������"

������"0
 
 9"
 "�	&'
 �� 
 �������� 
 "&�������
 ��
 ��:����
 	�����
 ��	���"
���
 ����
 ��
 ��

������
� 
 "&���/����
��"��������
 ��������
 �&��
�����
 ��
 ����	��
 ����
 �&�
������

����	�
��"����
��
�&�
���!��
�����	�'
����
"�	&
���
�"
��������
	�����
��	���"
���

���������0









Page 67



� �







�0��
 8���
�&�
	������
�	����	
	�����
�
"
�!�� 
�&��
�&�
��������
	�����
��	���"
�����
�� 


���
 ��
 ����"��
 ���
 ��
 �����
 �����"
 ����
 �	&����'
 ��
 "���"
 ���� ��'
 ���
 ���	��"
 ���

	��"����� 
�������
�&�
��"���
��
�	&���
��6���
������"0
$�
���� 
����
���
#����

$���
����	�"�'
��
��:���
�����
������
��	���"
��
E,-0+=+�B
���
�98
�����
��	���"

"	&�����
	������� 
���3�	�"
��	���"
��
E,,0,.��'
������
�
"&�������
��
E�0,+��










�

�
�
�
�
�
��'���(�
�-���������������"��



�0�,
 ���3�	���
 �������
 �&�
 �����
	&����"
 �	��""
 �&�
��6�
 �&���
 ����	��
  ���"
������"
 ��


����
	�����
���������
�"
�������
�
$����
+0

$&"
"
�&�
���������
��"��
��
!����

���3�	�"
 ���
 ������
 "�����"0
 $&�
 	���	�
 ���
 �����
 ����	���
 ��
 ����"��
 �6������

�����
������
�&������
��""���
�
�����
��
	������
"���	���
	�����
���"�����
�
�&�

	� 0
$&�
����	�
 &�"
 �������
 �
 ����
  ���
������
#$��
 ������
 �
��&
 �&�
 ������
��

 ���"
����
�&	&
�&�
�������
#$��
 "
��"��0
$&�
���������
���
����
�
 ������
 ���"

�&��
��
��	���
����
	������ 
������
������
������
"�����"0


�
���(��E�5���'���(�
�-���������������"��3����-��.�
�






























�
���-��.����������

��
���A��

������
��	���"
 

,-0+=+

C�"��������
��������
 

�-0++-

5��������
��������
 



�0,�-

8����"'
����������"
K
5��=
 

.=0+�.

�������
K
����"
 



�0��.

����(� +IC0++8�










�

����2��

���"��

E���


����2�,

���"��

E���


���,2�-

���"��

E���


���-2��

���"��

E���


����(�
A***�



�&�����7"
5���	�"


 �.'���
 ��'�,�
 ��'.,+
 �'=�.
 ID/8,C�



������� 
5���	�"
 �+'A==
 -'�,�
 �A,
 ,,+
 8)/B+C�


���������
5������



 ��'�-�
 ,'=��
 ���
 �
 +I/+D)�



%����������
K



�����������
 �+'���
 ��'�=.
 ='��,
 +',+�
 I8/DCI�

�� CI/DEB� ,)/BI,� )*/+,8� B/88E� +IC/++8�

��������-�����*




,0� ������
 �������
 �&�
 	��"�������
 ��
 �&�
 ������
 ��	���
 ��"����
 �����	�
 ��


E�.0��=�
���
�&�
�������
	�����
��	���
���������0


Page 68



� �






#����9���5��#����
#9��	��#����
�9�#�3���9�9�#��#�����



E� ��� ���(-����3�����.����'(�>"���%���"�
�
E0+0� �������-�&�<�����(����-���%�����������"���"������-��"'��-�A*0+DD���

�



�

��"'��"��(���������"��
�..����������6���(���
�����6�
�����-�
��9��(�
�

����(������

5�	��
	���
������"
�
��
�������
�
�&�
"�	���
:������
��
�&�
 ���0
$&�
������
��

��"������
���	�����"
&�"
�	���"��
����
�+
��
�.
�����"�
�
������
��
�,�
���
�&�

������
��
4����������
5�	���
��"���
���	�����"
����
=�
��
==0
$&"
&�"
��"�����
�
��

�	���"��
����	�"�
�6��������
��&�
�&�
:������
��
E�0�-=�
�&	&
&�"
����
���"��
� 

"����"
��&�
�=N
5���	�
���	�����
������
���
�&�
4�/
(��"�
��"�����
����"��0




9��� "��
:������
�
���������	�'
�&�
�	&�������
��
����2��
������"
���
��"������
���

4����������
5�	���
��"���
����'
�"
����
�"
�&�
�������
������
��
	&�����
�
	���
������

"
���!��
���	���
��
�	&���0
���"��"������"��=��=�((��(=�!"�'������(-���>"�"����!�
���"�0
$&�
��������
����	��
���""���
�&"
���"���"
"
����
��"��
� 
�����/"����
�
�/
&��"�
���	�����"
���
�&�
����	���
��
�������
	�"�
���
�&�"�
���	�����
� ��"
�&����&

	��������
	���""����0
��"�����"
���
������"
���
�����
���!� 
"	���� 0




	���������-�����(!��''�����
@������
���
���� 
5������
������"
�
����������
�������
��
�E�0��,��0
5��	��

>��	������
����
����"����
���""���"
��
E�0�,-�
&���
����
������� 
���"��
� 
��������

�	���
"���	��
���
>6������
��&�
��
����
$�����
��
�E�0�.���0
$&�
4���������
%"���� 

5���	�
"
����	�"���
��
�����
"����
��"�����
����
��6�"��
�&�
�"�
��
�����
������

�E�0�����0$&�"�
����������
�������"
���"��
��&��
���""���"
�������
��
�&�
�����"�
��

"����
���
�����"
�����
����
��
�&�
	�""����
��
"������
	�����	�"0
8������
������"
��

J������
9""�""����"7
���
����
�������!��
���
�"
@�	��� 
���!��
�������"
�&�
 ���

���
������
"
�6��	���
��
��
�	&����0












Page 69



� �



�
�
	���(��.�	������.��
@������
@������
������
�
���������
�������
��
�E�0�=,��0
$&���
"
�
���""���
�������
��

�&�
��6
����� 
��
5	&���
4����������
�������"'
�&	&
	����
��"���
�
��
��������

�� ����
��
E�0����0
$&�
���""���
&�"
����
���"��
� 
�&�
���� 
�	&�������
��
����2�,

������ 
����"0
?�
	������
��
������
�	���"��
������"
��
�=
/�A
 ���
���
 ����

������
�&�
���
���
�
>��	����'
>���� ����
��
������
��>>$�
�&����&
�6���"��

��"���	&
��
&���
���������
��
�����"������
��
�"!
��	���"
�&��
��!�
�������"
����

����������
��
����
�>>$0
$&"
���
�����
�&�
"��	�	����
��
�&�
������
5���&
?�"�

	�����	�
���
����/�,
��
��"���
������
��������
���
����"��
���!
��&
M����
������

����
����������
�����"0
?�
���
��"�
������	��
�
��"�/�=
������������
�����
��&�

�&�
��	����"
����0	


���'(��
���.�������
$&�
5���	�"7
"	!��""
�����"
"
"&����
��0,-
���
"
"��&�� 
�����
�&�
�������
	���	�

�����"
���0�A�'
���
"
"���
�����
�&�
����	�7"
������
�=
�� "�0
������������
�	���
"
����

��!��
��
������
���
������
��"��	�"'
����	����� 
������
����
����
"	!��""
	�"�"

�&	&
���
��
����	����
"��"��� 0


�
E0)�� ��(�%��!��(����'-����




�&�����
K
M����
������
&�"
�
%����� 
����
��
E,0A.��
���
����2��0
$&�
�����
�����

"&��"
�&�
"����� 
��"���
� 
���
9����
���
8����
�����
��98�0

$&�
�������

%����� 
����
"
	�������
�
9�����6
�




��%���� ��-�

A***�

������

A***�

<�����

A***�

����(�

A***�

@������
K
���� 

5������
 *� 8D*� +B*� II*�

@������
@������
 *� *� *� *�

5�	��
����
 *� IC*� +C*� ED*�

)�&��
%����� 

8����"
 D*� ,)*� )/+**� )/IC*�

����(����� D*� +/8D*� )/,E*� 8/CB*�


���������	�
����"�
������ 
	������"
��&
�&�
����""����
K
����	�
���������

�����
���	!��
������""
��
�
����&� 
��""0






E08��� ��"1"���-��""��"�
�

•� $&�
������"
��
�&�����
�
����
	��
	&����
:�	!� 
���
"�
%���"��
����
����

"�������"
���
�������
������"
���
	������
��
��
����������
I
�&"
���
���	�
��
�&�

�������
������
���
�&�
������ 
����"0
9�
�&�
	������
���'
5�	��
����
"����"
���
����

��
��
�	&����
��
������
�
�����	��
������
���
�&���
"
�
�"!
��
�	���"��
������"

��"�����
�
&�&��
	�"�"
�
�&�
"�	���
&���
��
�&�
 ���
�
�������
�	���
"
���
��!��0








Page 70



� �












•� %�����
���
$���"����
	����
�	���"�
���
��"���
�
&�&��
	�"�"0

•� $&�
������"�
���������
	������� 
&�"
�
���
E�0=���
��"���	��
���
����
	�����
���


�������
"�����"
"�����
�	��""
�&�
	������
���
��6�
,
 ���"0

$&"
���
����"
��
��
	��"��

��
���� 
�����	�
�&�
���3�	�0


�
E0,��� ��%�"������%��
�

$&�
����������
&�"
���
���"�
��
"���
���3�	�"0
������
���
�&��
9""�""����"
���

4����"��
5������
���
M����
������
��&
#������
���
������6
����"0



���������-����(-��""�""����"




9
$���
@�����
&�"
����
��������
���
"������
�����
)	�����'
�&	&
����"
=
����&"

"������0

$&���
&�"
����
��
�	���"�
�
	����
�������
���	�����"
�
�&�
��"�
=
����&"'

���
�"
�
��"���
�&���
���
��
"������
�
�&�
�"�����"
"�����
�
�&�
������
��"��""
	�"�0


)�	�
�&�
����
"
�"����"&��
�
"
��������
�&��
�&�
�/&��"�
����
�	!
��
�&�
��3��� 

��
�&�"�
�""�""����"
�
�����
��
�	&���
�&�
"����"
	�������
�
�&�
��"��""
	�"�

����&���&
�&�
"������
�
�&�
��	�������
��
)	�����
���
������� 
���"��
	�"�"
��&

"����"�0




�""�""������!'�� 4�"���""��(��� ��%�"�-��(��� �����(����-����

�����
)������
>6������
 �-
 ��
 .


4�/&��"�
 .
 ,
 �



����"����'���������"��-���F��G���-����'(�$�9��-"





$&�
����
��"��""
	�"�
��
��	�����
"��������
	&�����
��&
	�����6
	���
����"
�
�&�

���� 
&���
���
�&�
��	��
	������ '
���	��
��""
�����	�
��
�&�
�6���"��
����������

��"������
"�	���
��"
��������
� 
�&�
������
%����� 
�����
��&
���!
��
�&�
������

���
��
	�����	�
�
%�	�����
����0
$&�
����������
���3�	�
����
"
	������� 
�������

�&�
�������
"���	�
����
�����"
�����"
��&
�
���
��
��	����
���� 
����������
��&�

�&�
���
�����
�&��
������
���!
"
	�������0





E0I� ����("�

$&�
5	&���"
%58
��"���
"
�������� 
��������
��
�&�
5	&���"
�����0


�

$&�
����"�
����	�"�
"&��"
�
���3�	���
�����"����
��
E�0�,A�
���
%58
������
�	����"0

���""���"
�������
��
�"����	�
	�"�"
����
�����
� 
�
"������
������
��
"	&���"
��	��"�

��
9	���� 
 ����"���"
���
 �&�
 �	���"��
�������
9��""��
������"
 ���
 "���
 "	&���"

&���
����
���"��
� 
�&�
�����
��!�/��
��
�&�
���� 
 ���"
����
����������
���
����	���"

�
����������
"�	���
���	�����"0














Page 71



� �

&))��"*���
�

��'���(����.������5�;��������"���-���&'����(��.�
5�	���
�0,
$����
=
	��""/�����"






A***� A***� A***� A***� ��&'����(��.������''��%�(�
++6+)� +)6+8� +86+,� +,6+I� �

�
+A�
 �,=
 ��'����
 
 ��"	
����
 /
���������
��
��"	
����
 �?���
��
���3�	�


�6��������
��"��
��
���"��
	�"&����"0
 
$&"
���
 ������

�&�
 ����"��
 ��
 ��:����
 "	&���
 ���	�"
 ���
 5��������

����0




��.+�
 �.+
 
 
 $��
 �����
 �>"������
 �����"
 I
 ���������
 ��
 ����	�"�

�6��������
��
���"��
	�"&
����0
���3�	�
�����"
��
���

���
��&�
������0




-�
 �-��
 �
 
 �� ����&
@��
�������I
���������
��
�������
	�"�
������"

��
��
�"��
��
����
�&�
��K>0




�A��
 A�
 
 
 (��"&��
 K
 5����"	����
 /
 9�
 ��������� 
 ��
 ��������

������
 ����
 �&�
 ��������
 9""�	����
 ���
 �&�

5����"	����
�������
��
�&�
���3�	�
&�"
���
��
�&�
���!"

����
��"������
�
�����
�&��
�&"
	��
��
�6������0




�,�.�
 ,�.
 
 
 ���������
 9		���������
 5������ 
 I
 ���������
 ��

��"���	�"
 ��:����
 ���
 ����2��
 ��"��
 ����
 	&����"
 �

�������
��"��""
��"�
�����"��"0




��A�
 �A
 
 
 ?�������
K
#�
?"�
 /
��"	&������
��
 ����������"
 ��

#�����
����
��"
"���
���
��
?�������
����������0




����
 ��
 
 
 �� ��
������
���""��
I
���������
��
�&�
�&�"�
�
���!"

��
�&"
"	&���
���
����2�,0




-
 �-�
 
 
 @��	&���
$��������
?��!"
/
���������0


�,���
 ,��
 
 
 9,A=
8�����
F��	���
I
��������
	�����"����
�� ����"0




�'���
 ��'����
 
 
 >�"�
 >��
 #�3��
 $���"����
 ���3�	�
 I
 	�"�
 ��
 ����

�	:�"���"0




��'=�+�
 �'=�+
 
 
 �&��"��
 #�����
 I
 ���������
 ��
 ��"�������
 ���!"

��������
�������
	�����	���
���������"0





 
 
 
 

�D)I� �8B+� F+/*+DG� ���*� ����(���&'����(��.������''��%�(�

Page 72



� �

�
&))��"*���

�
����� ����� ����� ����� ��+�,�-�,������.���,�&��,�/���
��0��� ��0�1� �10�2� �20�3� �
1�)"3� � � � :��
�����	��������
��8���!�������������� �;�����
���
�����

������� �
������ ��� ������� 
�� ������ ��
������ ���
���
��-�
�����������
�������������������
�������

�������������������
	
������
�

00� � � � ������
���� !�

�� 	
��������
���  � ��� �������� �
� ����
��
�����������������
����

������������������
����
7���-�
�����������������������
�������
����������
��
������.�������
�������
�

14(3� � � � $�������	�������$�
�������<�!�������������� ���:��
����
��
=
�������=����$����!�

����>.����������������
�������������

������!�������������

������������
�

1�""3� � � � :��
����� 	������� ,
������ <� ����� �������� ���� ���
���� 
��
��������� ����� ���
����� ������� ��������� ���������� ��� ����� �
�
����
��� ���� �������� ��
����� 
�� 9���� 8���� �.���������� ���
����
�����������!�

���,
�����
�

10�3� � � � $���
���� ����� !�

�� �
�� 6�����  � ?������� ���� �
�����
�@���������
�

1�"3� � � � :��
��
��������!�

���
��9
��� �9
�����������������������
�

�)� � � � >����������A���� �	��������������������
�

)� � � � 5
������� �!�
����������
�

)� � � � 9����
��� $���� <� A������
�� ��� ���� ����������
�� 
�� �@��������
1���������������3����9����
���$�����
�

�04�
�

� � � �
��
����
��!�������� ���������
�����
���������
���-���-��
��������@������������������������
�����������?�������6����
;��������B��������������������������������
�������=����
��
�
���-��������������
����������
��������
����
�

1�'3� � � � >	/��
����<�6�����
��	�
���C�;��������� �	��������
�����

���������������
�������
�

0"� � � � !��������������<�������������
������������!��������������
������ ����� ����� ��� ���� ��� �� 
��������
�� ��
�� :��
��
	
�����	
������

1�'3� � � � !�������� $�
������ �@������
��  � ;�����
�� 
�� 
��������
���������
��������

� � � � �
4�1

5� ����� ����� ����� ��+�,�-�,������.���,�&��,�/���






�
�
�
�

Page 73



� �

��������6��+��78�6���9�&,��.���,�
.�/��6.:����������;�6���.��,����,��.��
������

"���/�,;��
)����

��/��6.
),�6,�..�������

����0�� �8�6�� $�/�.��

���� $�.� $0&0#

��

�,��.��,�9��	�����
�����
�����
������
�����
��!����D���1
����������������
���
�-�&�'"�����������������������8���
�����������������"��E��3

�0" &

������
���$
��������������������
��
��	
�����
�����
������
��������
��������������
����
��!�����"������
�����-�
������������������
������
�����������������������
��&("���
,����������������������E�0�&��"�

&

�7

�,��.��,�9��;������!������!�

��
�
��������������
�����
������.�����
����
����
��!������>�����
����8�����
������
�����
��!����D��

'" &

A
�������������������������
��������
��!>8����������������
��������
����
������������
��������������
��/�
����
�
��
�����
����
�������
������������
���
����������������
�����������!�����

&

�� ����,��69�>��������������� �4" &
>���������������������
�����
��������

��
������
������
�����������������������������������������������
���
�
�������������������
�������������
����
�����������������

&

�� ������6�.�,/���.����&�������. �" &
9���������
��������������
�����>�����
��=�������
!�����

#

� 5
������;��������� �"" & $
��������������
�������� #

1 :����������!������;��������� (" & /�������<�������
��
���
������������
������� #

2

;�����������������@�����������������������

����������
�������
���!������
>�����
����8������
�����

" &
;����������
��!>8�!�����������������������
�������������
�����������

#

!�&$��$�<�=&%!>���))�$�����&!9 33�

3 >@�������������:�����������
���������
� " #

	 ;�����$������������
�������
�� " #

? >�����F�����<�������
������������� " #

!=�!��#�!�&$��#����&!9 �

�

;�
������
�����
������������������"<
�����������������D:������
��
��	��������,�
��
	���D�$5�8

�"" $

	
��������
�����
��������<���
��������%�<�
�����
��������
�����������������������
����������&"��+"��������������
������������&+����������
���.�������������
������
$���
�������
�����������
�����
������:������
��
��
	����������
��	���������������������������������������
����
�
�������������
��������������������������������
�
�������

&



!�����������
���<�%�����
����������
�������

" $

!������������
����1
�����������������3��
��������������
��������������������$�����������
��<����������������������
������
�������!��������������
�����������������������������
�������
��������������������������������������������������
����������

&

��

!�����9������<����������
�������������
�����������������
�����
����
�������
����������1&�4"�3�������
���1&0"�3

�'" &
8
������������������������
�����-������
���/�����
���������
���������������
�����������
���
����
���������
����������
������
�������
����������������������

&

��
F
����/���������!������<�������$		�
	
��������
������"2

4" #
��������������������������<���������������������������������
������
����������

#

��
;�����������������������������
�������
�
��������
������������������
�	����
5������������������9C9�

�0" # ��������=>,��E�E�"�� #

�1
%��������
��
������
��������������������<�
��������������
�������������������

" & %�������������
������������������������������
����� &

�@!"$������&!��&$�����&!9 ?	�

����(-����3�����.����'(��4�-.�����(�%��!��(��"��'��?++�������������#9��:��

8
����
����@�������
���"��E�����
�����-�����
������������������7����
����������
��
�����:$D��
����������������������������������������������:?��

�����
8
����
����@�������
���"��E�����
�����-�����

������������������7����
����������
��
�����:$D��
����������������������������������������������:?��

�����

�

Page 74



� �

��/��6.�����/�,�������+���,���<�>�8�6�)������7;���+�,�78�6�������/�,;�6,�8�.9

�2

)�,��,����������������6����9�
����
�����������
����������������-�

������
��
���
���������������������
����������������
�������
�������E0���
��
�
�����������������������������
�	��������
C�F
����$�
������������������������
��
�����
�����

�"" #
%��
�����������
��������
��
����������������������������
��������������
�����

&

�3

&�����.�,������<��8.���..��8���,��
$�/��A9�;���
�������9��������!���
���C�
������������
����
�������
������
%���������������������������
��	����
,�������
7��

��" &
�����������
��
����������
�������������
������������������
!��������������������

&

�	

),�����6:�)87�����;�����&�/�,��.��69�
�����������������������������
�������

�������������
�����������������������C�
���������������������8
��
������������
��
�����������������
���
����
�����������

�"" &
9������������
�����������������������������������������

������������������������
�����
������
���
�����
�
����������������
�������������������

&

�?

$��8��������������,�%���6�����9�

��������������
����������������������-�

�7������
��������������
�������������
����"2

4" #
A������
����������������
�����������������
�������
��
�����
B��
��
��������
��������������
��������������

#

��
��+��������,��6#�	������!�

����
��
������������������������������G�19����
	
�����6�
��3

+" &

,
��
�����
��������
��
����

��������������
���"��<��-�
�
��������
�������
�����������������������������
����������
��

�����������@���������
��������
��
������
������������
�������"��

$

�
 &,�����.���#,����,��8����� 04" #

�� ��,�;����,/�������#,����,��8����� �-("" #

�&-�#��=$�%���@�$�"�!-�$>�#$��)�9�:3��

���&!��=�&!!�"�!-�$>�)!&��9��@!"$���<�>���#�)��)!�91:�
�
6�����H��������������������E���������
��������������������E�
�
��������4"2�
�������������������������������������
��������

������H��������������������E���������
��������������������E�
�����������
����������
7���������������������������
�����������E���������
���������������
��������������������
������
���

;���H��
��������
7��������E��
�������
�������������
�
���������������������
����@�����������������������
��
�"��E�������E�
���
���������������������������
������
�
����������������������������

>%6��
����������������
���������
����>%6�
����������
�����������������
�������
��
�������������������������
	�������D�����������
�����
��
����������������>%6�������
��������������������
�����������������������!5�D��������������
��.���������$�����������������
���
������>%6�������������
&��""4��������������������
����������
�����������96�
�������:$�"���
���

����(-����3�����.����'(��4�-.�����(�%��!��(��"��'��?++�������������#9��:��

�
�
�

�

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



   

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
5 January 2012 

 
 

Education Standards  
This report is structured by Key Stage and contains a short summary of headlines.  (ANNEX A contains the city-
wide outcomes validated December 2011). 
 
Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
(Teacher assessment of 5 year olds, reported at the end of reception year)  
1.1 Results this year remained unaltered in most areas. 46% of children who came to the end of the 

Early Years Foundation Stage this year live in the poorest 30% Super Output Areas. (A SOA is a 
geographical area designed for the collection and publication of small area statistics. SOAs give an 
improved basis for comparison throughout the country because the units are more similar in size of 
population than, for example, electoral wards).Overall boy’s results improved but girls declined.  This 
impacted positively on gender gaps in attainment for 2011.  

.2  Plymouth’s results were in-line with the national averages after a four year improving trend.  2011 
 results are below national average. 

.3  The LA has challenged a number of schools where results this year appear to be lower than we would 
expect. Some schools appear to be depressing results so that progress looks better at KS1 and KS2.  The 
LA are actively monitoring this and through moderation have successfully managed to realign some school 
assessments. The LA moderation programme meets statutory requirements and results in a visit to every 
school to view evidence of attainment in a four year cycle. 

 
Key Stage 1 (KS1) 
(Teacher assessment of 7 year olds, reported at the end of Infant phase) 
.4  Results remained fairly static again this year and are within 4% of national averages in all areas. 
.5  In general boys results were up and girls were down and gender gaps reduced accordingly. 
.6  There is a tension with some schools not wanting to report attainment particularly above age related 

expectations (level 3) as these pupils must achieve a L5 at KS2 to achieve two levels of progress. This is a 
national issue. However it does make schools vulnerable to a poor Ofsted inspection outcome and some 
have found this out to their cost. 

 
KS2 
(Statutory externally marked assessments of 11 year olds, reported at the end Junior phase) 
2.1  The 2011 validated results show that standards at L4+ in English and maths across Plymouth dipped this 

year by 2% after a 1% increase in 2010. Nationally results improved significantly and Plymouth Schools are 
now 5% below the national average. 

2.2  Despite this many schools have made significant improvements on previous results notably 
 Ernesettle Primary improving from 68% to 92% L4+ in English and maths. 

2.3  Small improvements were made in some areas. The gap in achievement between girls and boys results in 
L4+ in English and maths narrowed significantly with girls results down by 4% and boys down by just 1%. 
The number of boys reaching L4 in English was up by 2%. 

2.4  These results place Plymouth Primary Schools amongst the lowest ten performing LAs in the country. 
2.5  A number of factors have combined to create this situation.  

• Funding decisions by School’s Forum to protect school budgets have resulted in a 30% reduction in 
staffing within the city’s school improvement service and this restructure impacted negatively on 
support to schools at a key time.  

• School Forum also removed Advanced Skills Teachers from being deployed by the LA. 
• A number of schools were quick to disengage from LA school improvement programmes taking the 

opportunity of new freedoms to determine their own priorities.  
• The national boycott of SATs was partly led from within Plymouth primary schools and a number of 

schools thought that the tests would not be undertaken this year.  
• The drive to explore academy status and freedoms has been a distraction for some.  

Version and date  Not protectively marked 
 

Agenda Item 9Page 77



• Some headteachers are active in developing community interest companies which has kept them out 
of school too regularly.   

 
KS4 and KS5 
3.1 Validated results will not be available until the end of January 2012 and no detailed analysis is possible until 

then. 
3.2  Provisional results show that Plymouth will remain above national average for 5 x A*-C and will be just 

below for the harder challenge of 5xA*-C inc. En/Ma. 
3.3  Some schools have made excellent improvement in outcomes and no secondary schools will be below 

floor standards of 35% in 2011.  
 
Neighbourhood and Attainment Gap Analysis of Results (see ANNEX B) 
4.1  Unfortunately officers are unable to update the 2010 analysis until secondary data is validated later next 

month. Neighbourhood results have been aggregated on an individual pupil basis and home address 
postcodes, reported in the preceding January school census, have been used. Pupils will attend various 
schools across the city. To make sense of the available data for neighbourhoods all 43 are clustered into 6 
broad and fairly even sized bands using the ‘Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index’ for each 
associated postcode. In doing this it is easier to see the bigger picture that can be lost in the detail in the 
tables.  

4.2  The neighbourhood trends, at the extremes, provide excellent evidence to show that pupils, who live in 
our most deprived neighbourhoods, are achieving results that are closing the gap between them and those 
living in our most advantaged neighbourhoods. The progress achieved by pupils within our most deprived 
neigbourhoods needs to be replicated elsewhere. 

4.3  The analysis for 2011 should show a continuation of the recent trends as the schools that made the 
biggest improvements serve our most challenged communities. 

4.4  This data does shine a light on some primary schools in the east of the city that could be perceived to be 
underachieving. 

 
Ofsted 
5.1 The Corporate Performance Assessment of Plymouth published by Ofsted in December 2011 rates the 

LA as ‘performing excellently’. Whilst this judgement is impacted by the educational standards achieved 
collectively in Plymouth, it also broadens the scope to include the aggregated results of school and setting 
inspections, as well as inspection findings of key services provided by the LA to children and young people.  
There is clearly a mismatch between the quality of provision inspected and the results achieved by the 
city’s schools and settings in 2011.    

5.2  The percentage of primary schools deemed by inspectors to be ‘good or better’ has improved well since 
this was identified as a priority last year. Now 67% of secondary schools, 74% of primary schools and 78% 
of early years settings are good or outstanding. Special schools and Pupil Referral Units remain a concern 
with only 54% judged to be good or better.  

 
Below Floor standards (BFS) 
6.1  The Government has combined an absolute threshold measure (target) with progress data in English and 

maths to create the below Floor Standards measure. This measure will escalate over time to ensure that 
standards match world-class expectations. Schools that fail to meet the Floor Standards will be 
transformed through academy sponsorship.  

6.2  As LA primary results are poor this year a number of schools are now’ below the floor’. Plymouth 
primary school results place the LA at the foot of the following performance table which shows the 
percentage of primary schools in a LA that are BFS:  

•  Derby (24 per cent), Torbay (23%), Plymouth (23%), Wakefield (23%), Blackpool (21%), Herefordshire 
(21%), Middlesborough (20%), Norfolk (20%). 

Conclusion 
Our Below Floor Standards Plan was submitted to the DfE last summer. Feedback from the Department 
confirmed that it was one of the best nationally. The need to maintain an absolute priority on raising standards in 
primary schools is paramount.  The LA as commissioner of school places should investigate the full range of 
organisational change in schools where progress and standards are unacceptable.  
 
John Searson  
Principal Adviser Schools and Settings 

20/12/2011 

 

Page 78



SERVICES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE - LIFELONG LEARNING         ANNEX A 
 

2011 NATIONAL ASSESSMENTS 
 

           Changes in Local Authority results compared to national (Based on the latest available data as at 15/12/11) 
 

 % Change from 2010 
Notes NtG 

BvG 

Diff. 
from 
NA Plymouth National 

Early Years 
NI 72 Achievement of 78+ and 6+ in 
PSE and CLL = +3 +NtG: Boys +1%, girls -1%   -3% 

NI 92  Achievement gap between 
lowest 20% & rest 0.7 -1.3 Gap increased slightly after a 3 year 

falling trend  -
0.5% 

Key Stage 1 
Reading 2+ 

+1 = +NtG: Boys +3%, Girls -2%  
 -4% 

Reading 3+ 
= = -NtG: Boys -1%, Girls +2%  

 -3% 

Writing 2+ 
= = +NtG: Boys +2%, Girls -2%  

 -4% 

Writing 3+ 
= +1 No changes: Girls remain +6% on 

Boys 
 
 -2% 

Mathematics 2+ 
+2 +1 +NtG: Boys +4%, Girls -2%  -2% 

Mathematics 3+ 
-1 = +NtG: Boys -2%, Girls -1%  

 -3% 

Key Stage 2  
English L4+ 
 = +2 +NtG: Boys +2%, Girls -1%  -5% 

English L5+ 
 -5 -3 +NtG: Boys -2%,  Girls -8%  -4% 

Mathematics L4+ 
 -2 +1 -NtG: Boys -2%, Girls -3%  -4% 

Mathematics L5+ +1 +1 No changes Boys remain +3% on Girls  -3% 
NI 73 English and maths L4+ 

-2 +1 +NtG: Boys -1, Girls -4% 
  -5% 

NI 93 Expected progress in English 
from KS1 +1 = 

No gender changes (Girls +5% on 
Boys)  -2% 

NI 94 Expected progress in maths 
from KS1 -2 = 

No gender changes (Boys +3% on 
Girls)  -4% 

NI 102a FSM / non-FSM achievement 
gap (L4+EM)      

Key Stage 4 – Very early indications would suggest 
Five or more GCSE A* to C (or 
equivalent) +3 +3.8  

   

NI 75 % 5 A*-C (inc. En/Ma) 
+2.3 +2.6 Strong improvements at SJH +12%, 

PHSG +8%, MAP +7%, SDCC +7%   

Expected progress in English from 
KS2 +3 +2  

   

Expected progress in maths from 
KS2  +4 +2  

   

NI 84 Two or more A* to C in Science  
 

 
    

NI 102b FSM/non-FSM achievement 
gap (5ACEM) 

 
 

 
    

Key Stage 5  
Average Point Score (APS) per 
student 

 
 

    

APS per entry (A level grade C = 210 
points) 

 
 

    

NI 80 Achievement of Level 3 
threshold by 19 

 
 

    
 

Key 
  Equal or better than national change 2010-11 

 Or decreasing gender gaps 
  Worse than national change 2010-11 

 Or increasing gender gaps 

 

NB: This represents the final picture for early years and primary but is 
provisional for KS4. KS2 data is extremely disappointing following a poor set 
of results in 2010. No Plymouth Primary school is on the DfE lowest 200 for 
Below Floor Standards, 2 schools will be within the next 500. KS4 
improvements were greatest in schools serving areas of most disadvantage - 
so this should be +NtG. 

Page 79



            ANNEX B 
 
Plymouth Neighbourhood Bands (Revised 2008)    
        
Plymouth's 43 neighbourhoods have been banded based on the average 'Income deprivation 
affecting   
children index' (IDACI) of the postcodes within them, weighted by pupil numbers   
(Figures in brackets indicate the band before revision based on pupil weightings)   
        
NID Nname Band  NID Nname Band  
24 Hartley & Mannamead 1  22 Leigham & Mainstone 4 (3)  
31 Glenholt 1  9 St Budeaux 4  
35 Woodford 1  11 Ham 4  
37 Chaddlewood 1  17 Lipson & Laira 4  
40 Elburton & Dunstone 1  6 Ford 4 (3)  

43 
Turnchapel Hooe & 
Oreston 1 (2)  10 

Kings Tamerton & 
Weston Mill 4 (3)  

42 Goosewell 1  18 Mount Gould 4  
23 Peverell 2  20 Mutley & Greenbank 4  
25 Higher Compton 2  29 Southway 4  
33 Crownhill 2 (1)  5 Morice Town 5  
30 Widewell 2  13 Ernesettle 5  
34 Eggbuckland 2  14 Whitleigh 5  
36 Colebrook & Newnham 2  15 Honicknowle 5  
39 Plympton St Maurice 2  16 Efford 5  
41 Plymstock 2 (1)  7 Keyham 5 (4)  
4 Stoke 3  1 City Centre 6  
27 Derriford 3 (2)  2 Stonehouse 6  
28 Tamerton Foliot 3 (2)  19 East End 6 (5)  

21 
Beacon Park & 
Pennycross 3  3 Devonport 6  

26 Manadon 3  8 Barne Barton 6  
32 Estover 3  12 North Prospect 6  
38 Yealmpstone 3         

    Band Average IDACI range    

  
Least 

deprived  1 
From 0.00 up to but not including 
0.08  

  
 
 2 

From 0.08 up to but not including 
0.14  

   3 
From 0.14 up to but not including 
0.20  

   4 
From 0.20 up to but not including 
0.30  

   5 
From 0.30 up to but not including 
0.40  

  
Most 

deprived  6 From 0.40    

        
The following chart shows the trends in attainment at KS2 across these bands from 2004 to 2010  
        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 
 

 

 

 
Secondary neighbourhood trend

 

Primary 
neigh-
bourhood 
trend 

56
%

47
%

42
%

29
%

20
%

16
%

55
%

49
%

45
%

36
%

25
%

20
%

55
%

56
%

44
%

33
%

25
%

18
%

59
%

56
%

50
%

34
%

27
%

22
%

64
%

60
%

48
%

36
%

30
%

21
%

61
%

51
% 55

%

43
%

34
%

33
%

67
%

65
%

57
%

46
%

39
%

39
%

0%

1 0%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Band 1 Ba nd 2 Ba nd 3 Ban d 4 Ban d 5 Band  6

Ne ig hb o urh oo d

P
ro
p
 o
f P

up
ils
 A
ch
ie
vi
n
g 
5+
 A
*-
C
(E
M
)

2 00 4 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8 2 00 9 2 0 1 0

L ow d ep r iva tio n H ig h d e p rivatio n

K S 4  A t ta i nm e n t (5 +  A *-C (EM ))  ag a in s t d e p r iv a ti o n  
(N e ig hb ou rh oo d  B a n ds )

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Band 1 56% 55% 55% 59% 64% 61% 67%
Band 6 16% 20% 18% 22% 21% 33% 39%
Diff 40% 35% 37% 37% 43% 28% 28%

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

 
UPDATE ON LOCALITY WORKING FOR EARLY INTERVENTION IN 
SERVICES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE, PLYMOUTH CITY 
COUNCIL – DECEMBER 2011 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Vision 
 
Children, young people and their families have consistently told us they want locally delivered 
services that are provided in a timely and integrated way that avoids duplication. 
 
Locality working is about providing universal and targeted services to local people in their area 
with a focus on early intervention, prevention and collaboration between services.  This approach 
places children, young people and their families at the heart of delivery. 
 
Locality working will enable delivery of the vision within the Children and Young People’s Plan – 
we want all our children to live, grow, achieve and exceed in their hopes for the 
future – for vulnerable children, young people and their families. 
 
National Drivers 
 
 Over the last decade, a range of key national documents and strategies have promoted the 
benefits of closer working practice between services to deliver better outcomes.  The investment 
in early intervention; promotion of resilience factors; improved school attendance and attainment; 
together with the development of an integrated workforce, will improve outcomes for our 
children and young people, and facilitate the targeting of greater resources to the most vulnerable. 
 
Some of the key national policy drivers that have influenced this agenda are: 
 
§ Children’s Act 2004 
§ Child Poverty Act 2010 
§ Working Together to Safeguard Children (Statutory Guidance updated 2010) 
§ Munro Review of Child Protection (2010) 
§ Early Intervention: The Next Steps (Graham Allen 2011) 
§ SEN Green Paper 2011 
§ The Children’s Plan: Building Brighter Futures 2007: Vision for 21st Century Children’s Services 
§ Aiming High for Children 2007 
§ Reaching Out: Think Family (2008) Families at Risk Agenda: DCSF March 2009 
§ Importance of Teaching (2010) 
 
Local Drivers 
 
Plymouth 2020 Partnership (LSP) is committed to the development of neighbourhood and locality 
service delivery across all sectors. 

Agenda Item 10Page 83



 2

 
Plymouth Children and Young People’s Plan 2011 – 14 
 
§ Equip young people with skills, knowledge and opportunities to make a successful transition to 

adulthood. 
§ Improve levels of achievement for all children and young people. 
§ Tackle child poverty. 
§ Provide all children with the best possible start in life. 
§ Tackle risk-taking behaviour through locality delivered services. 
 
Guiding principles in improving outcomes for children and young people: 
 
§ The right help at the right time. 
§ Integrated working for efficient and effective support around children, young people and 

families. 
§ Collaborative advantage. 
 
Where are we now? 
 
Phase 1: May to September 2011 
§ Locality Commissioning Groups in place in each locality. 
§ Locality groupings based on need data and demographics (in  

o North West 
o South West  
o Central and North East and Plympton 
o South East and Plymstock. 

§ Established locality implementation team and refocused roles of senior managers to develop 
integrated teams with operational and professional management functions. 

§ Reorganisation of teams into an integrated model 0-11age group and 11-19 age group. 
 
Phase 2: September 2011- 
§ Further development of integrated teams to recruit social workers and CAF officers. 
§ Development of models of integrated service delivery through common processes including 

Common Assessment Framework. 
§ Development of single point of referral. 
§ Collocation of teams with locality bases for delivery in communities. 
§ Development of a performance and outcomes framework. 
§ Refresh of governance including relationship with Children’s Trust, refresh of citywide Locality 

Board and Locality Groups. 
§ Collaboration with other providers of services for children and young people, eg – 

o Excellence Cluster 
o Plymouth Community Healthcare 

§ Consultation with schools representatives as we develop the model. 
 
We believe that through collaboration and integrated working we can deliver a better service for 
children and young people, support their families, schools and primary care providers to prevent 
escalation into specialist services.  That commitment continues as we move towards the 
development of a new Directorate of People. 
 
 
 
Maggie Carter 
Assistant Director (Learner and Family Support) 
19 December 2011 

Page 84



 

 

 
Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2011/12 
 

 
 Topics  

 

 
J 

 
J 

 
A 

 
S 

 
O 

 
N 

 
D 

 
J 

 
F 

 
M 

 
A 

 
M 

Commissioning, Policy and 
Performance 

            

Performance and Budget 
- Delivering growth 
- Raising Aspiration 
- Reducing Inequalities 
- Value for Communities 

 14   13   5  1   

Learner and Family 
Support 

            

Hospital School (Review July 
2011) 

   8         

School Transport (under 
regular review) 

       5     

Locality Review        5     

Lifelong Learning             

Commission on School 
Libraries (Written Report) 

   8         

Primary School Attainment  
(Written Report) 

       5     

Work Experience  14           

Adult Learning             

Children’s Social Care             

Independent Foster Placement 
Costings/Recruitment of Foster 
Carers (Under regular review) 

     10       

Adoption Inspection    8         

Children’s Health 
 

            

Child Poverty      10       

Agenda Item 11Page 85



 

 

 
 

 
Key: 

 
 

 
 Topics  

 

 
J 

 
J 

 
A 

 
S 

 
O 

 
N 

 
D 

 
J 

 
F 

 
M 

 
A 

 
M 

Task and Finish Groups             

Young Carers Task and Finish 
Group – review of 
recommendations (Sept 2011) 

   8         

Apprenticeships (New Year)             

Children’s Mental Health to inc 
Emotional Wellbeing and 
Mental Health Strategy and  
Emotional Health of Children 

    11 & 12   5     

Youth Service #             

Updates             

Policy Updates/Legislative 
Changes 

 14  8  10  5  1   

Quarterly Scrutiny Reports 
 

         1   

Update from Children and 
Young People’s Trust 

 14  8  10  5     

Update from Corporate 
Parenting Group 

     10    1   

Update from Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board 

 14  8    5     

Update from relevant LSP 
Theme Groups 

 14    10    1   

Strategies and Plans 
 

            

Children and Young People’s 
Plan (Action Plan) (July 2011) 

    13        

Youth Justice Action Plan 
(Review July 2011) 

     10       

Training and Development             

Development Session for panel 
members 

            

New Item = # 

Page 86


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 TRACKING RESOLUTIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM MANAGEMENT BOARD
	Briefing paper on Plymouth ESB 5 Jan 2012
	Plymouth_-_CSA20111
	for Claire Request R029-2011-12-NEETs

	6 CHILDREN'S EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH TASK AND FINISH GROUP
	Agenda Item 6

	7a Children and Young People's Trust
	7b Local Safeguarding Children's Board
	8 PERFORMANCE AND BUDGET REPORT
	9 SCHOOL ATTAINMENT
	10 LOCALITY REVIEW
	11 WORK PROGRAMME

